

Alfredo Pina de Macedo Produção de ácido succínico a partir de hidrolisados de pasta kraft do eucalipto

Production of succinic acid from eucalyptus kraft pulp hydrolysates

Ano 2019

Alfredo Pina de Macedo

Produção de ácido succínico a partir de hidrolisados de pasta kraft do eucalipto

Universidade de Aveiro Departamento de Química

Dissertação apresentada à Universidade de Aveiro para cumprimento dos requisitos necessários à obtenção do grau de Mestre em Biotecnologia, ramo Industrial e Ambiental, realizada sob a orientação científica da Doutora Ana Maria Rebelo Barreto Xavier, Professora Auxiliar do Departamento de Química da Universidade de Aveiro e do Doutor Dmitry Evtyugin, Professor Associado com Agregação do Departamento de Química da Universidade de Aveiro.

Este trabalho foi realizado no âmbito do Projeto inpactus – Produtos e Tecnologia inovadores a partir do Eucalipto, Projeto N.º 21874 financiado no Portugal 2020 através do Fundo de Desenvolvimento Regional (FEDER), Compete 2020, nº246/eixo II/2017

o júri

presidente

Professora Doutora Sónia Patrícia Marques Ventura Professora Auxiliar do Departamento de Química da Universidade de Aveiro

Professora Doutora Ana Maria Rebelo Barreto Xavier Professora Auxiliar do Departamento de Química da Universidade de Aveiro

Professora Doutora Luísa Alexandra Seuanes Serafim Martins Leal Professora Auxiliar do Departamento de Química da Universidade de Aveiro

Agradecimentos

Em primeiro lugar queria deixar os meus agradecimentos à Professora Doutora Ana Xavier por ter aceite e incentivado o desenvolvimento deste tema e ao Professor Doutor Dmitry Evtyugin pelo seu tempo despendido na transmissão de conhecimentos. Agradeço ainda aos dois em conjunto, toda a orientação e apoio prestado durante a realização do presente trabalho.

Agradeço ainda ao RAIZ e em particular ao Projeto de investigação Impactus pela matéria prima e pela oportunidade de ir realizar a hidrólise enzimática. Destaco ainda a ajuda prestada pela Doutora Maria João Mota, durante o processo de obtenção da matéria prima em causa.

À Cátia Almeida e Doutora Marie Alexandri queria deixar o meu obrigado por toda a ajuda relativa ao uso da bactéria utilizada neste estudo, tendo sempre fornecido informações uteis e rápidas.

A todos os meus amigos e colegas do LEB queria agradecer por toda a ajuda, companheirismo, amizade e convívio, que certamente facilitaram todo o trabalho realizado ao longo do ano. Destes queria destacar a ajuda geral e orientação inicial dentro do laboratório prestada pela Joana Pereira.

Agradeço a todas as pessoas mais próximas, pelo apoio em todos os momentos em que estiveram presentes, incluindo todo este.

Finalmente, agradeço a toda a minha família por me ter permitido realizar esta etapa da minha vida, tendo-me dado todo o apoio necessário para superar este desafio.

palavras-chave

resumo

Ácido succinico, Actinobacillus succinogenes, Batch, Fed-batch, Kraft, Pasta de papel, Hidrolisados, Resíduos lenhocelulósicos, Anaerobiose

O ácido succínico é um importante "*building block*" interveniente na indústria química, sendo uma molécula base na síntese de uma vasta gama de produtos. Apesar das suas origens biológicas, o ácido succínico era produzido exclusivamente pela indústria petroquímica, acarretando grandes desvantagens ambientais tais como a libertação de CO₂. Presentemente, com o desenvolvimento da biotecnologia e devido a um aumento de pressões ambientais e económicas, uma parte consideravel da produção de ácido succínico passou a ser feita através de bioprocessos.

A produção biológica de ácido succínico contrasta com a petroquímica ao consumir CO₂, permitindo assim contribuir para uma redução das emissões. Adicionalmente, já se encontra documentada a possibilidade de utilizar resíduos agroindustriais, nomeadamente lenhocelulósicos, como fonte de substrato para a produção de ácido succínico. Destes, é possível destacar os resíduos produzidos pelas indústrias papeleiras, nomeadamente resíduos da madeira onde o processo kraft se poderá revelar um forte candidato como prétratamento para bioprocessos.

O objetivo deste trabalho centrou-se na produção de ácido succínico a partir de pasta celulósica obtida pela deslenhificação de madeira de *Eucalyptus globulus* através do cozimento kraft. Para isso, fez-se a hidrólise enzimática das celulose e hemiceluloses presentes nas pastas kraft, para produção de um hidrolisado formado pelos respetivos monossacáridos. Este foi fermentado pela bactéria *Actinobacillus succinogenes*, biocatalisador deste processo, em operação batch e fed-batch.

Através da fermentação do hidrolisado de pasta de madeira obteve-se uma concentração de ácido succínico de 19.93 g/L, com produtividade e rendimento de 0.399 g/L.h e 0.331 g_{acido} succínico/g_{açucares} respetivamente. Estes valores foram melhorados após a adição de carbonato de magnésio, apesar de se ter verificado um aumento na produção de subprodutos. No caso do *fed-batch*, verificou-se uma elevada produção de ácido láctico que a certa altura, superou a produção de ácido succínico. Não obstante, estes resultados podem ser utilizados a nível industrial, com o objetivo de produzir ambos os ácidos orgânicos, uma vez que estes poderão ser separados.

Este trabalho serviu de referência para estudos futuros utilizando resíduos de madeira como substrato, de forma a proceder à sua integração numa biorrefinaria de pasta de papel que se enquadre num modelo de Economia Circular.

keywords

abstract

Succinic acid, Actinobacillus succinogenes, Batch, Fed-batch, Kraft, Paper Pulp, Hydrolysate, Lignocellulosic wastes, Anaerobiosis

Succinic acid is an important "building block" to the chemical and polymer industries, being the base molecule for the synthesis of a vast array of products. Despite its biological origin, the succinic acid was initially produced by the petrochemical industry, having high environmental impacts like the release of CO₂. Nowadays, with the increasing development of biotechnology and due to environmental and economic concerns, there is a significant production of succinic acid by bioprocesses, within the biobased industry.

The biological production of succinic acid includes the consumption of CO_2 and contributes for reducing the emissions. Moreover, it is well documented the possibility of using agro-industrial wastes such as lignocellulosic, as feedstocks to produce succinic acid. From those it is possible to evidence the residues originated by the pulp and paper industry, namely wood residues, for which the kraft process could be used as a pre-treatment candidate for bioprocesses.

The aim of this work was to produce succinic acid from cellulose pulp obtained by delignification of Eucalyptus globulus wood through kraft cooking. The first step was an enzymatic hydrolysis of the celluloses and hemicelluloses to produce a hydrolysate composed by the respective monosaccharides. This hydrolysate was fermented by the bacterium *Actinobacillus succinogenes*, the process biocatalyst operated under batch and fed-batch conditions.

Using the kraft wood pulp hydrolysate, it was possible to attain a succinic acid concentration of 19.93 g/L, with a yield and productivity of 0.399 g/L.h and 0.331 g_{succinic acid}/g_{sugars}, respectively. These values were improved with the addition of magnesium carbonate, however, this salt also led to the production of a higher concentration of byproducts. In the fed-batch fermentation, it was verified that the lactic acid production surpassed the succinic acid production. Nonetheless, those results further evidenced the possibility of exploiting this fed-batch operation to produce both succinic and lactic acid.

This study served as a reference for future studies fed with wood residues, in order to their integration into a pulp and paper biorefinery working according to the Circular Economy model.

Table of Contents

| 1. Introduction | 1 |
|---|------------------|
| 2. Overview | 11 |
| 2.1 Pulp and paper industry biorefinery potential | 11 |
| 2.1.1 Kraft process | 11 |
| 2.1.2 Wood pulp hydrolysis | |
| 2.2 Succinic acid | 13 |
| 2.2.1 Producers of Hsuc | 16 |
| 2.2.2 Biotechnological production of Hsuc by A. succinogenes | |
| 2.2.3 Acetogenesis | |
| 2.2.4 The effect of oxygen in the A. succinogenes metabolism | |
| 2.2.5 Bioreactor operation modes | |
| 2.3 Genetically modified producers | |
| 2.4 Biotechnological Hsuc downstream processes | |
| 2.5 Biotecnological Hsuc perspectives | |
| 2.6 Objectives | |
| 3. Methodology | 37 |
| 3.1 Enzymatic Hydrolysis | |
| 3.2 Fermentations | |
| 3.2.1 Media preparation | |
| 3.2.2 Microbial culture | |
| 3.2.3 Preparation of the pre-inoculum and inoculum | |
| 3.2.4 Fermentations in shake flasks | |
| 3.2.5 Fermentations in Bioreactor | |
| 3.3 Analytical Methods | |
| 3.3.1 Cell concentration | |
| 3.3.2 Chromatography | |
| 3.7.3 WPH reducing sugars determination by dinitrosalicylic (DNS) acid | |
| 3.3.4 Initial WPH sugars determination by anthrone method | |
| 3.3.5 Calculation methods of fermentation parameters | |
| 4. Succinic acid production using lignocellulosic wastes: Feasibility to integrate l hydrolysates as feedstock | kraft pulp 47 |

| 4.1 Enzymatic hydrolysis | 47 |
|--|----------------|
| 4.2 Fermentation in anaerobic shake flasks | 51 |
| 4.3 Fermentation in aerobic shake flask | 55 |
| 4.4 Fermentation in bioreactor | 57 |
| 5. Evaluation of succinic acid production in kraft wood pulp hydrolysate us strategies | sing different |
| 5.1 Effect of magnesium carbonate in the WPH medium | 63 |
| 5.2 Fed-batch fermentation in WPH medium | 68 |
| 6. Conclusions | 73 |
| 7. Future work | 75 |
| 8. References | 77 |
| 9. Appendix | 93 |

List of Figures

| Figure 1 - Destilation process of crude oil (HC - hidrocarbonets). (Adapted from U.S. |
|---|
| Energy Information Administration (2008))1 |
| Figure 2 -Worldwide oil consumption evolution. (Data from BP (2018))2 |
| Figure 3 - Corn price evolution. The red circle represents a high price inflation, despite the |
| higher abundance of corn (adapted from Macrotrends (2018)) |
| Figure 4 - Cellulose structure. The dotted lines represent the intramolecular hydrogen |
| bonds (adapted from Sjöström (1992)) |
| Figure 5 - Supramolecular hierarchical structure of a cellulose fiber |
| Figure 6 - Lignin precursors. Left: p-coumaryl alcohol; Center: coniferyl alcohol; Right: sinapyl alcohol (Siöström (1992)) |
| Figure 7 - Hsuc structure. (NCBI) |
| Figure 8 - Hsuc petrochemical production vs biotechnologic production. (Adapted from |
| Bechthold et al. (2008)) |
| Figure 9 - General representation of the metabolism associated with Hsuc producers. The |
| dotted lines represent the oxidative branch of the citric acid cycle, absent in these |
| organisms; the black continuous line represents the reductive branch of the citric acid |
| cycle; the gray lines represent some competitive pathways |
| Figure 10 - Simplified metabolism of the A. succinogenes. (1) PEPCK, (2) MDH, (3) Fse, |
| (4) FR, (a) LDH. The numbers represent the metabolic pathways of Hsuc production, and |
| the letter represent the Hlac formation that can supplant it. (adapted from Samuelov |
| (1991)) |
| Figure 11 - Evolution of the reducing sugars concentration of the kraft pulp hydrolysis 48 |
| Figure 12 - Result of the LEX-SEC chromatography. The continuous line represents the |
| chromatogram obtained by the RI detector in the Knauer K-2401 module and the dotted |
| line represents the chromatogram obtained by the UV detector also present in the Knauer |
| K-2401 module |
| Figure 13 - Evolution of the sugars, organic acids, pH and biomass in the shake flask |
| fermentation in synthetic medium in anaerobic flask |
| Figure 14 - Evolution of the sugars, organic acids, pH and biomass in the shake flask |
| fermentation in WPH medium in anaerobic flask |
| Figure 15 - Evolution of the sugars, organic acids, pH and biomass in the shake flask |
| fermentation in WPH medium under aerobic conditions |
| Figure 16 - Evolution of the sugars, organic acids and biomass in the bioreactor |
| fermentation in synthetic medium with pH control at 6.7 and CO ₂ sparging |
| Figure 17 - Evolution of the sugars, organic acids, and biomass in the bioreactor |
| fermentation in WPH medium with pH control at 6.7 and CO ₂ sparging |
| Figure 18 - Evolution of the sugars, organic acids and biomass in the bioreactor |
| fermentation with the addition of 10 g/L of MgCO ₃ , pH 6.7 and CO ₂ sparging |
| Figure 19 - Evolution of the sugars, organic acids and biomass in the bioreactor |
| fermentation with the addition of 20 g/L of MgCO ₃ , pH 6.7 and CO ₂ sparging65 |

Figure 20 - Time course of the Fed-batch fermentation in WPH medium. The vertical bars represent the feeding pulses. The concentrations of sugars and organic acids were calculated considering their respective masses and assuming a constant initial volume.... 70

List of Tables

| Table 1 - Most abundant polysaccharides among hemicelluloses. (1) Galactoglucomanan. |
|---|
| (2) arabinoglucuronoxylan. (3) Glucuronoxylan. (4) Glucomanan. (Adapted from Sjöström |
| (1992)) |
| Table 2 - Hsuc natural producers, substrates, types of operation and kinetic and operational |
| parameters |
| Table 3 - Different operation modes with A. succinogenes, substrates, kinetic and |
| operational parameters |
| Table 4 - Genetically modified organims operated in batch, their modifications, substrates, |
| and kinetic and operational parameters |
| Table 5 - TSB medium composition |
| Table 6 - Composition of the fermentation media |
| Table 7 - Results of the fermentations in anaerobic flask comparing all the kinetic |
| parameters, related to the Hsuc, and the sugar consumption54 |
| Table 8 – Results of the fermentations in bioreactor comparing all the kinetic parameters, |
| related to the Hsuc, and the sugar consumption |
| Table 9 – Results of the fermentations with different concentrations of MgCO ₃ , comparing |
| all the kinetic parameters, related to the Hsuc, biomass yield and the sugar consumption. 66 |
| Table 10 – Fed-batch results in each pulse of operation with in WPH medium, presenting |
| all the kinetic parameters, related to the Hsuc and the Hlac, and the sugar consumption 68 |

List of Abbreviations

- µmax specific growth rate
- acK acetate kinase
- ACoA acetyl coenzyme A
- ATP adenosine triphosphate
- CA carbonic anhydrase
- FR-fumarate redutase
- Fse-fumarase
- Hace acetic acid
- HC-hydrocarbons
- Hfor formic acid
- Hlac lactic acid
- HPLC high-performance liquid chromatography
- Hsuc succinic acid
- LAB lactic acid bacteria
- LDH lactate dehydrogenase
- LEX/SEX Ligand exchange/Size exclusion
- MDH malate dehydrogenase
- MO microorganism
- MRS Man, Rogosa and Sharpe medium
- NAD nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide
- OD optical density
- P-product
- PDH pyruvate dehydrogenase
- PEP phosphoenol pyruvate
- PEPCK phosphoenol pyruvate carboxykinase
- PFL pyruvate-formate lyase
- PK pyruvate kinase
- RI refractive index
- S-substrate

t – time TSB – tryptic soy broth WPH – wood pulp hydrolysate X – biomass Y – yield

Introduction

The oil is one of the main resources used by the humanity. It is utilized for both energy related applications and for the synthesis and extraction of important base molecules, commonly referred as building blocks¹. These molecules are used in a wide variety of industries to produce more complex molecules and polymers. Building blocks can be obtained directly from the fractionated distillation of oil (Figure 1), or by processing each fraction.



Figure 1 - Destilation process of crude oil (HC - hidrocarbonets). (Adapted from U.S. Energy Information Administration (2008))

The advantage associated with the molecules produced from crude oil relies on their low cost and high efficiency of the associated processes². Nevertheless, the high carbon footprint is a major disadvantage associated with that type of industry. This can happen directly due to the consumption of fuels to generate the heat needed for the distillation process used in the oil fractioning. It can also happen indirectly, namely when using the fuels produced from the oil for transport aplication³. Another disadvantage, even though not directly linked to the building blocks, is the long cycle needed for regeneration of the oil. The crude oil consumption is already higher than the rate at which new reserves are discovered, as well as its regeneration rate³ and its demand has been increasing each year (Figure 2)⁴. Such can lead to the economical depletion of oil since deeper reserves can be unviable to be explored⁵.



Figure 2 -Worldwide oil consumption evolution. (Data from BP (2018))

A suitable alternative to face the oil dependence can be found in vegetal biomass. Besides many added-value molecules, there are also a large number of sugars, mainly polysaccharides, present in it. Those can be suitable to feed industrial bioprocesses, using bacteria, yeasts or fungi as biocatalysts to produce metabolites, either to be used as biofuels or building blocks^{6–8}. Additionally, all these processes can be associated, which result in the creation of different fraction that can be further processed, like what happen with the sugars that feed the fermentations. This led to the creation of the term "biorefinery", due to the similarities that the biomass fractioning shows, when comparing with the oil distillation that occur in the refineries.

Biorefineries which operates with food crops as feedstock, are categorized as the first generation. The most common crops used are cereals, mainly corn, due to their low price and high productivity. They also produce seeds with a high content on starch, a reserve polysaccharide⁹. This sugar, contrarily from what happens with most of the mono and disaccharides, is not directly fermented by many microorganisms (MOs), the reason why it is necessary a previous hydrolysis process^{9,10}. In addition to cereals, the use of sugar cane and sugar beet has also been explored by some countries. They possess the advantage of containing sucrose, which is readily fermented by the majority of MOs⁹. However, due to their lower price, the use of cereals is more cost-effective, even with the hydrolysis process being considered¹⁰.

The main disadvantage related to the first generation of biorefineries is their competition with the food industry. This can lead to socioeconomic impacts, such as rioting or starvation related to food price inflation, as illustrated in the Figure 3¹¹.



Figure 3 - Corn price evolution. The red circle represents a high price inflation, despite the higher abundance of corn (adapted from Macrotrends (2018))

It is visible that close to the year of 2010, there was a substantial inflation in the cereal prices and, as expected, starvation cases were verified in some producing countries. Paradoxically, this was also the year when there was the most considerable abundance of cereals worldwide, and those cases of starvation were being caused by the channeling the food resources into industrial processes^{11,12}. To avoid such problems, the uses of cereals and other food crops were put under restrictions by some countries.

The second generation of biorefineries operates with lignocellulosic residues. Therefore, the competition between food and industry is avoided. This type of biorefinery is also more sustainable, since the use of residues promote a circular economy model¹³. However, the lignocellulosic residues are complex, which lead to the necessity of additional processes to allow its use. Analyzing the chemical composition of lignocellulosic material, it can be highlighted three major components, cellulose, hemicelluloses and lignin¹⁴.

Cellulose is a macromolecule composed by subunits of β -D-glucopyranose, linked by $\beta(1\rightarrow 4)$ bonds (Figure 4)^{9,14}. This polysaccharide only forms a linear rigid chain due to the strong intramolecular hydrogen bonds. These are bind by hydrogen bonds or by Van der Waals forces (intermolecular bonds), forming supramolecular structures, such as hydrogen bonds or by Van der Waals forces (intermolecular bonds), forming supramolecular structures, the fibrils and the microfibrils (Figure 5)¹⁴. Both of these interactions (intermolecular and intramolecular) are the reason why the cellulose has high tensile strength and low solubility ^{9,14}. The molecular weight of plant cellulose can reach values of 106 kDa or higher¹⁵.



Figure 4 - Cellulose structure. The dotted lines represent the intramolecular hydrogen bonds (adapted from Sjöström (1992))

Along the microfibrils, two domains of cellulose can coexist in variable proportions, the amorphous domain, and the crystalline domain. The main difference between those domains relies to intensity and regularity of interaction by hydrogen bonds ¹⁴. Therefore, the crystalline domain where the level of organization is higher, correspond to more hydrogen bonds interaction, being the opposite of the amorphous domain, where the level of organization is less regular¹⁴. Consequently, the last domain referred to represent the weak point in the hydrolysis, both chemical and enzymatic^{14,16,17}. Microfibrils can ultimately associate themselves to form the cellulose fibers, the superstructure that contributes the most for the plant physical support^{14,17}.



Figure 5 - Supramolecular hierarchical structure of a cellulose fiber

Hemicelluloses are structural polysaccharides of non-cellulosic origin composed by both pentoses or hexoses, linked essentially by $(1\rightarrow 4)$ or $(1\rightarrow 3)$ bonds^{14,18}. However, the main backbones in hemicelluloses, unlike to cellulose, may possess ramifications such as $\alpha(1\rightarrow 2)$, $\alpha(1\rightarrow 3)$ and $\alpha(1\rightarrow 6)^{9,14,19}$. This group of polymers always has an amorphous structure, thus contrasting with the alternating structure of the cellulose. Moreover, the morphologic and molecular characteristics of the hemicelluloses can give them some solubility in in water¹⁴. The average molecular weight of this kind of polymers is usually lower than 105 kDa¹⁵.

Hemicelluloses are responsible for the structural association between the cellulose chains, allowing a better cohesion between them^{14,17}. Also, they can interact with the lignin, further increasing its bonding strength to the cellulose microfibrils^{9,14}.

Another basic characteristic of the hemicelluloses is the difference between them from plant to plant. It can be emphasized two groups of plants based on the similarities on their constituent hemicelluloses, the softwoods and the hardwoods (Table 1)¹⁴.



Table 1 - Most abundant polysaccharides among hemicelluloses. (1) Galactoglucomanan. (2) arabinoglucuronoxylan. (3) Glucuronoxylan. (4) Glucomanan. (Adapted from Sjöström (1992))

The lignin is a rigid three dimensional aromatic polymer, composed by molecules derived from p-coumaryl, coniferyl and sinapyl alcohols (Figure 6)¹⁴. The lignin establishes covalent bonds with the hemicelluloses and non-covalent bonds with cellulose chains, which contributes to higher mechanical strength of the lignocellulosic material. Moreover, it can difficult the action of enzymes that would eventually degrade this material, such as cellulases, hence protecting the plants against the action of MOs^{14,17,19}. Also, the phenolic nature of this polymer has an inherent antimicrobial activity, giving the plants an additional layer of protection against MO^{20,21}.



Figure 6 - Lignin precursors. Left: p-coumaryl alcohol; Center: coniferyl alcohol; Right: sinapyl alcohol (Sjöström (1992))

The presence of the lignin can have negative impacts on the use of lignocellulosic materials for the bioprocessing purposes. This polymer can thus led to reduction of both the hydrolysis efficiency and the fermentations yields^{13,21}. Therefore, the integration of pre-treatment steps to remove the lignin can be useful in a biorefinery concept, improving the hydrolysis and fermentation of the lignocellulosic material. Additionally, the removed lignin can be recovered, hence valorizing the feedstock used.

The pulp and paper industry is an example of an activity which produces large quantities of residues²². In Portugal for example, The Navigator Company alone produces more than 80 kg of residues per ton of product²³. However, many of these residues are simply discarded or burned for the production of electricity, instead to be involved in more cost

attractive processing. Consequently, the pulp and paper industry can be a suitable candidate to be integrated in a biorefinery concept²⁴.

A key step in wood pulp production is the dispersion of the cellulose fibers in water, which can be done mechanical or chemically. The principle beyond the chemical processes is the dissolution of lignin, causing the release of cellulosic fibers into the aqueous medium. Among these chemical processes it is possible to highlight the kraft cooking process, one of the most used worldwide for pulp making²⁵. This process uses sodium hydroxide and sodium sulfide, which turns the medium alkaline ,usually with pH higher than 12^{25,26}. These conditions, alongside the high pressures and temperatures, dissolve most of the lignin, forming a cellulosic pulp^{25–27}.

Although the kraft process is mainly intended to produce pulp for paper, its ability to delignifying the lignocellulosic material makes it a suitable candidate for the pretreatment needs. This can be an advantage for a pulping industry since they do not need to invest in additional operation units. Additionally, the kraft process can deal better with higher quantities of lignin than other chemical processes, making it more suitable to be integrated into a biorefinery concept²⁵. Ultimately, the kraft process should be suitable to delignify lignocellulosic wastes, with higher lignin content to be used in papermaking. Those treated wastes are the suitable to be hydrolyzed and used as substrate for bioprocesses.

To produce the fermentable sugars from the kraft pulp, a previous hydrolysis step is needed. This step can be performed by acidic or enzymatic hydrolysis. The acidic hydrolysis is the quickest method to produce fermentable sugars. Nevertheless, it has the disadvantage to degrade the resulting monosaccharides into furfural and hydroxymethilfurfural, both strong inhibitors of MO^{28,29}. Moreover, in the end of the hydrolysis the pH needs to be heavily corrected to make the substrate suitable for fermentation. On the other hand, the enzymatic hydrolysis uses mild conditions at physiologic values of pH. This avoids the production of inhibitors and lead to less corrections of the pH^{13,30}. Therefore, this was the chosen hydrolysis process used in this thesis.

Various metabolites can be produced with monosaccharides originated by lignocellulosic residues, in several types of bioprocesses. In this case, the studied process was the production of succinic acid (Hsuc). This molecule has significant importance in the chemical industry as a precursor for other molecules and easily degradable polymers^{31,32}. It

is classified as one of the most essential base molecules in the chemical industry, being additionally used in the formulation of pharmaceutical and food products^{33,34}. The Hsuc was a building block which was produced exclusively by the petrochemical industry. However, do to environmental and economic pressures a considerable part of its production shifted to a biobased industry, using renewable resources as feedstock^{35,36}. The Hsuc originated by renewable sources, like the lignocellulosic biomass, is also linked with the consumption of CO_2 , both in the plants' growth and in the Hsuc metabolic production itself. Such makes this bioprocess for Hsuc production highly sustainable³⁷.

There are many organisms, mostly prokaryotic capable to naturally produce and accumulate Hsuc. An example of that is the bacterium *Actinobacillus succinogenes*. This was first described in 1999 by Geutler et al. and it is still a reference MO for study the production of Hsuc in different substrates, due to its accessibility and easiness to operate.

Overall the aim of this thesis was to produce Hsuc in a bioprocess fed by delignified *Eucalyptus globulus* pulp, generated by the kraft pulping process and posteriorly hydrolyzed. Such can allow to understand the possibility to integrate the kraft process into a biorefinery concept. The MO used was the *A. succinogenes*, which was operated under anaerobic conditions.

2 Overview

2.1 Pulp and paper industry biorefinery potential

Due to the growth of pulp and paper industry, a crescent residue production is being verified. To attenuate this problem, new sustainable strategies are being developed. One strategy is to integrate the pulp and paper process into a biorefinery concept.

The chemical processes are the main pulping methods used in this type of industry. Their objective is to chemically remove the lignin from the lignocellulosic feedstock used for the papermaking²⁵. Due to their capacity to fractionate the raw material used, the pulping processes are a suitable candidate to be used as a biorefinery unit. Furthermore, the carbohydrate fraction obtained can be used to feed bioprocesses, such as the Hsuc production. Just an example, kraft delignification can be used for the production of fibrous material from bark that nowadays is underutilized waster being burned for the energy production.

2.1.1 Kraft process

The pulping process is an essential step in papermaking. It has encouraged the development of various methods, being the chemical ones used more often in the industry due to their higher efficiency. From those, it is possible to evidence the kraft process. This method was developed in 1879 and nowadays is one of the most used chemical pulping process²⁵. The main advantage of it is the higher tolerance to wood where the lignin content when compared to other chemical pulping process, which makes it more efficient in terms of feedstock usage. The kraft process uses sodium hydroxide and sodium sulfide, which determines its characteristic high pH, usually higher than $12^{25,26}$. These alkaline conditions, in conjunction with high pressures and temperatures, dissolve most of the lignin, leaving a wood pulp composed almost exclusively by polymeric sugars.

In the papermaking industry contest, the pulping step is what allows the creation of raw material to produce the paper^{25–27}. However, in a biorefinery point of view, this can constitute a suitable pretreatment for the lignocellulosic material present in this work. As such, the polysaccharides can be easily hydrolyzed without having the lignin, which increases the process efficiency¹³. Additionally, without lignin it is easier to use the hydrolyzed polysaccharides present in the lignocellulosic material as substrate for biomass, since the possibilities of inhibition are reduced^{20,38}.

It is possible to conclude that a pulping facility that uses the kraft process, can be easily converted into a biorefinery. Furthermore, the ability of this process to tolerate larger quantities of lignin allows to process the wastes generated from the respective pulping industry, thus valorizing them.

2.1.2 Wood pulp hydrolysis

The delignified wood pulps can be a suitable substrate for microbial bioprocesses due to their sugar content. However, these sugars, are present in the polymeric form, and thus cannot be directly metabolized in biorefinery processes^{13,14,17,39}. Nonetheless, a previous hydrolysis step can turn this polysaccharides into their monomeric forms, making them suitable for biorefinery processes, such as the Hsuc bioproduction^{14,40}.

There are two main hydrolysis technics used nowadays, the acid hydrolysis and the enzymatic hydrolysis¹⁴. The first one uses strong mineral acids, such as H_2SO_4 and HCl, at high temperatures (higher than 150 °C)¹⁴. This method, however, can lead to the degradation of the resulting monosaccharides to furfural and hydroxymethyl-furfural¹⁴, both strong MOs inhibitors. Even with the low concentration of acid, the high temperatures presents in the process can lead to the formation of those inhibitory molecules^{14,41}. Consequently, these factors are the main disadvantage of acid hydrolysis and the reason why this process is being replaced.

The enzymatic hydrolysis is, therefore, a suitable alternative for the acidic processes. Contrarily to these, the pH and temperature conditions are relatively moderate, since many enzymes operate around 50 °C and the pH values commonly never drop below 4 30,42 . This way, the enzymatic hydrolysis presents a higher efficiency than the acid hydrolysis, due to less energy consumption and lower need of pH correction on the final hydrolysate. The majority of enzymes used in these processes are expressed by genes found in white rot fungi, especially *Thrichoderma* species^{14,28}. Those enzymes can be divided into two groups: a) The cellulases, which are responsible for the degradation of the cellulose; b) The enzymes that degrade hemicelluloses (also referred as hemicellulases for some authors)^{14,28,30}. In the cellulases group is possible to highlight three important types of enzymes, the endoglucanase, responsible for the degradation of the cellulose chains' ends releasing cellobiose units, and the β -glucosidase, which specifically degrades the β links in the cellobiose units, hence releasing its glucose (Glu) subunits^{14,30}. As for the enzymes responsible for the degradation of hemicelluloses, which can hydrolyze the xylans, present in high quantities in the hemicelluloses³⁰.

2.2 Succinic acid

Hsuc (IUPAC name: butanodioic acid) (Figure 7) is an organic dicarboxylic acid, naturally produced by many organisms⁴³. It is a colorless and water-soluble molecule, with the capability to buffer a solution at pH values of 4.21 and 5.64 ⁴³. The most referred metabolic pathway in the formation of Hsuc is the respiration (both aerobic and anaerobic), beginning with the degradation of its carbon source to form acetyl coenzyme A (ACoA) to initiate the citric acid cycle⁸. Besides, it is an important electron donor of electrons, hence playing an important role in cellular respiration and other metabolic pathways of anaerobic organisms^{44,45}.



Figure 7 - Hsuc structure. (NCBI)

The importance that Hsuc acquired in the XX century was due to its first uses as chemical building block^{40,46,47}, base molecules in the chemical industry. These are known for their ability to produce more complex molecules, including polymers, hence being able to originate a vast array of products^{46,48}.

Hsuc was one of the first molecules to be used as a building block. It can originate both commodity chemicals⁴⁷, used to satisfy worldwide demands^{47,48}, and specialty chemicals^{34,47}, capable of attributing a differentiating property to a certain product. The main examples of commodity chemicals produced by Hsuc are, a) the 1,4-butanediol, an important solvent and precursor of polymers such as polyester and polybutylene⁸, b) the adipic acid, used as lubricant, as food additive and also a precursor to nylon, c) the γ -butyrolactone ^{6,8}, used in the textile industry and as paint remover, d) the tetrahydrofuran, main component of adhesives and inkjet for printers and the e) linear aliphatic esters^{8,34}, which are the base molecules in the production of polymers degraded by industrial composting^{31,32}, such as the polybutylene succinate^{33,35,49–51}.

Regarding the specialty chemicals, there are predominantly formulations which integrate the Hsuc itself. As main examples are a) the animal rations, in which the Hsuc can promote the production of propionate, hence increasing the protein synthesis of the animals⁵², b) the sodium succinate, as flavor enhancer, c) the diethyl succinate, used as solvent in cleaning products especially for metallic surfaces, the d) ethylene diaminodisuccinate, an ion chelator which potentially can substitute the EDTA, and e) the Hsuc itself as supplement for plant growth³⁴. Due to all these applications of this C4 organic acid, it is comprehensible the broad market created around it.

Even though it was previously mentioned that the Hsuc is present in many organism's metabolisms, its commercial production started in the petrochemical industry (Figure 8)^{6,36}.

Some processes were a) the oxidation of 1,4-butanediol, b) catalytic hydrogenation of C4 dicarboxylic anhydrides, or unsaturated acids and c) carbonylation processes using ethylene or acetylene. From these, the more direct approach and still present nowadays, is the oxidation of maleic anhydride (based on b)), extracted from naphtha to succinic anhydride, which is further hydrated to Hsuc ^{6,36}. In this process, the first step requires temperatures ranging from 120 °C to 180 °C, with pressures reaching the 4 MPa in the presence of a metal catalyst such as nickel or palladium⁶. In the second part of the process, where the succinic anhydride is hydrated, methods can be implemented to increase sustainability, such as water recirculation⁶. This two-step process has the advantage of being a highly efficient one, with conversion rates close to the theoretical values, allowing for production costs around 6-9 \$/Kg Hsuc. Nonetheless, it has some disadvantages such as the carbon footprint related to the petrochemical industry and the energetic demand of the process itself³⁶.



Figure 8 - Hsuc petrochemical production vs biotechnologic production. (Adapted from Bechthold et al. (2008))

Nowadays the with the development of biotechnology the petrochemical rout to produce is close with the biobased production. Therefore, even though the biological approach is less efficient, leading to the formation of unwanted products, it allows for production costs which in time might turn out to be competitive³⁶. Additionally, the spike of the oil price in 2007, led to an increasing investment on biological production of Hsuc^{4,31,36}.

Nowadays, recent decreases in oil prices, caused by the large quantities of shale oil entering the market, led to pressure on the biotechnological Hsuc industry⁵³. Therefore, novel approaches shall be studied, thus improving the competitiveness of the biotechnological produced Hsuc.

2.2.1 Producers of Hsuc

There is a large number of MO capable of metabolically producing Hsuc. Normally, the exclusive presence of the citric acid cycle's reductive branch is what cause these MO to produce large quantities of Hsuc (Figure 9)^{37,54}. This pathway allows the oxaloacetate (OAA) to originate Hsuc. Since this organic acid cannot be further metabolized, it accumulates and is excreted to the fermentation medium⁵⁴. This type of metabolic pathway is more common in prokaryotic organisms, which are anaerobic. However, it is possible to highlight few eukaryotic organisms as potential Hsuc producers, like fungi from the genus *Aspergillus* or *Penincillium*⁵¹, which are less reported in the literature.

Naturally, the Hsuc producers also present alternative pathways to produce other metabolites. However, those can be undesirable from a bioprocess point of view^{37,55,56}. Some common examples of Hsuc alternative pathways can be the ones responsible for the formation of acetic acid (Hace), formic acid (Hfor), lactic acid (Hlac) and even ethanol (EtOH). Therefore, to counteract these disadvantages of performing undesirable metabolic pathways, genetically modified organism were developed⁴⁹, as further explored.



Figure 9 - General representation of the metabolism associated with Hsuc producers. The dotted lines represent the oxidative branch of the citric acid cycle, absent in these organisms; the black continuous line represents the reductive branch of the citric acid cycle; the gray lines represent some competitive pathways.

In the following table, it will be presented organisms already investigated with the ability to produce Hsuc naturally:

Table 2 - Hsuc natural producers, substrates, types of operation and kinetic and operational parameters

| | Strain Substrate ([g/L]) | | Operation | Hsuc | | | |
|-----------------------------|--------------------------|--------------------------------------|------------|---------------|--------------|-------|-----------|
| Specie | | Substrate ([g/L]) | type | Concentration | Productivity | Yield | Ref. |
| | | | 51 | (g/L) | (g/L.h) | (g/g) | |
| Actinobacillus succinogenes | 130Z | Glu (9) | Batch | 4.2 | 0.28 | 0.46 | 49, 59 |
| | | (nm) | Batch | 67.2 | 0.8 | 0.7 | 58 |
| | | (60) | Continuous | 28.9 | nm | nm | 59 |
| | | Spent sulfite liquor (SSL) (5-20) | Fed-batch | 27.4 | 0.39 | 0.52 | 62, 63 |
| | | (5-20) | Fed-batch | 25.2 | 0.47 | 0.57 | 62, 63 |
| | | Whey (50) | Batch | 21.5 | 0.44 | 0.57 | 62 |
| | | Residual Biomass (65.8) | Batch | 48 | 0.94 | 0.75 | 63 |
| | CGMCC 1593 | Glu (25) | Batch | 60.2 | 1.3 | 0.75 | 64 |
| | | Melaço da cana (65) | Batch | 50.6 | 0.84 | 0.8 | 65 |
| Basfia succiniciproducens | DD1 | Glu (50) | Batch | 20.00 | nm | 0.49 | 66 |
| | JF 4016 | SSL (5-20) | Fed-batch | 33.8 | 0.48 | 0.58 | 62, 63 |
| | | (5-20) | Fed-batch | 39 | 0.31 | 0.54 | 62, 69 |
| | BPP7 | A. donax Hydrolizate (59) | Batch | 9 | nm | 0.84 | 68 |

n.m - not mentioned
| Table 2 | cont. |
|---------|-------|
|---------|-------|

| Specie | Strain | Substrate ([g/L]) | Operation type | Concentration (g/L) | Hsuc Productivity (g/L.h) | Yield (g/g) | Ref. |
|--|------------|-----------------------------------|-------------------|---------------------|---------------------------------|----------------|------|
| Anaerobiospirillum succiniciproducens | ATCC 53488 | Glu (20) | Batch | 34.4 | 1.8 | 0.86 | 69 |
| | | (50) | Batch | 32.2 | 1.2 | 0.99 | 70 |
| | | (19) | Continuous | 3.91 | 2.03 | 0.85 | 71 |
| | ATCC 29305 | Galactose (27) | Batch | 15.3 | 1.46 | 0.87 | 72 |
| | | Whey (48.7) | Fed-batch | 34.7 | 1.02 | 0.91 | 73 |
| | | (48.7) | Continuous | 19.8 | 3 | 0.64 | 73 |
| | | Wood hydrilysate (27) | Batch | 24 | 0.74 | 0.88 | 72 |
| Mannheimia succiniciproducens | MBEL55E | Glu (20) | Batch | 14 | 1.87 | 0.70 | 74 |
| | | Whey (28) | Batch | 13.4 | 1.18 | 0.71 | 75 |
| | | (22) | Continuous | 6.4 | 3.9 | 0.69 | 75 |
| Corynebacterium glutamicum | R | Glu (18) | Batch | 5 | 2.7 | 0.288 | 76 |
| Enterobacter sp. | LU1 | Glycerol (50) and lactose (25) | Batch | 35 | 0.51 | 0.11 | 50 |

From Table 2, it is possible to observe the *A. succinogenes* as the most prominent natural producers of Hsuc, being also one of the first to be isolated⁷⁷. With this species, there was already achieved the production of considerable Hsuc concentrations as well as high productivities and yields in its bioprocesses. Moreover, works such as the one done by Alqvist et al. (2016) have shown its ability to ferment lignocellulosic wastes^{78,79}. In Table 2 the highest concentration of Hsuc (67.2 g/L) was achieved by *A. succinogenes*, being this strain one of the most readily available. The *M succiniciproducens* is also a good producer due to its high Hsuc productivity. Such factor makes this bacterium a suitable candidate to be operated in continuous fermentation. However, laboratory studies with the *M succiniciproducens* can be difficult, since its use is currently limited by a patent⁸⁰.

The bacterium *B. succiniciproducens* that was more recently isolated has received interest due to its genetic similarity with the M. succiniciproducens⁸⁰. Nonetheless, its use to produce Hsuc is still relatively recent, being necessary further investigation, to ensure the optimization of the productivity and yield parameters. The *A. succiniciproducens* is another natural Hsuc producer with strong perspectives to be operated in continuous, presenting one of the highest yields achieved. However, this species presents the operational disadvantage of being a restricted anaerobe^{31,69}, which implies additional care in its handling as well as additional costs in case of industrial use. Furthermore, there is not a total understanding of the *A. succiniciproducens* and therefore there are no optimized processes reported ³¹.

C. glutamicum, a bacterium already explored by the industry to produce amino acids, acetone, butanol, and ethanol (the last three are produced in what is known the ABE process), was already studied as a possible biocatalyst for Hsuc production. However, this bacterium also generates large quantities of byproducts, which are the reason for its low Hsuc yields⁷⁶. Nevertheless, genetic editing of the *C. glutamicum* can make it suitable to be use as a Hsuc producer at industrial level⁸¹.

The last bacterium of Table 2 is the *Enterobacter sp.* and was only recently described as Hsuc producer, using glycerol. This substrate is an abundant byproduct from biodiesel production and hard to be further process⁵⁰. Despite this bacterium showed the capacity to ferment glycerol, respective yields were low and lactose was assayed as co-substrate⁵⁰. However, to get an economically viable production further research is need.

Besides these natural producers, genetic engineering allows for the creation of finetuned MOs to produce Hsuc, as presented in the next subtopic.

2.2.2 Biotechnological production of Hsuc by A. succinogenes

The bacterium *A. succinogenes* was isolated from the bovine rumen, and firstly described in 1999⁷⁷. Its name reflects into the bacterium elongated cylindrical shape and its ability to produce Hsuc⁷⁷. It is a Gram-negative bacterium, belonging to the *Pasteurellaceae* family, which is believed to create innumerous symbiotic relations with their host organism⁸². Also, the species of this family are known to be responsible for the degradation of cellulosic material present in their host's foods, with the benefit of producing important metabolites for them ^{77,82}. Consequently, that characteristic can indicate the possibility to use this family's species in lignocellulosic biomass based bioprocesses⁷⁷.

Looking to its physiology, the *A. succinogenes* has an optimal temperature of 37 °C where both of its growth and Hsuc production are maximum. This temperature is also close to that registered in the cow's rumen $(38-38.5 \text{ °C})^{83}$. It is a capnophilic facultative anaerobic bacterium, preferring environments of microaerobiosis, especially the ones that contain around 40% of CO₂^{77,84}. This characteristic also relate this bacterium with its host organism, since the cow's rumen present low concentrations of O₂ and relatively high concentrations of CO₂^{85,86}.

A. succinogenes can have a stable production of Hsuc at pH values ranging from 6.0 to 7.2, being the optimal values often described close to 6.7 ^{59,85}. Moreover, below the pH value of 5.8 an inhibitory effect starts to be noticed, either in the *A. succinogenes* growth rate or in the production of Hsuc. This metabolite, along with other organic acids, namely the Hace, contributes to a decrease in the fermentation medium pH, being necessary a constant addition of base to ensure the best condition for the Hsuc production^{64,85,87}. To maintain the optimal pH values, it is common to use NaOH or, as some studies suggest, carbonated salts, being ensured that they could not cause an inhibitory effect, which could interfere with the process^{64,69}. Previous studies had already appointed the ion Ca²⁺ present in the calcium carbonate as a strong inhibitor of the Hsuc production. Moreover, there was also verified that Mg²⁺ present in MgCO₃, is described to have a positive effect in the *A*.

succinogenes metabolism, thus being commonly used to adjust the pH⁸⁸. Other carbonated salts that are regularly used are the sodium carbonate and sodium hydrogenocarbonate, however they are known to promote the *A. succinogenes* to aggregation, hence adding difficulties in mass transfer and the overall process efficiency⁶⁴.

The *A. succinogenes* was previously identified as capable of consuming the majority of monosaccharides present in the lignocellulosic biomass^{13,21,67,89}. However, in contrast to other organisms from the *Pasteurellaceae* family, the *A. succinogenes* does not have the enzymes needed to hydrolyze polysaccharides. Inside the bovine rumen, those polysaccharides are normally degraded by other bacteria. From the resulting monosaccharides, the *A. succinogenes* can metabolize both pentoses and hexoses^{31,79,82}. Nonetheless, when operating in pure culture, this biological relation cannot be maintained and a previous hydrolysis step when using lignocellulosic biomass^{7,13}. The concentration of monosaccharides in the fermentation must then be controlled to prevent the described substrate inhibition of the A. succinogenes. In the literature, the often-described optimal concentration of monosaccharides for the Hsuc production is normally between 50-60 g/L⁸⁷.

A key step in the *A. succinogenes* Hsuc production metabolism is the formation of Oxaloacetate directly from phosphoenolpyruvate (PEP), alternative to its formation from ACoA^{31,37,57}. This molecule then follows the reductive branch of the citric acid cycle, which is interrupted after the formation of Hsuc, blocking its consumption and thus leading to its accumulation^{35,37}. It is essential to notice that this metabolic pathway will eventually compete with others, such as the acetogenesis , also the ethanol and lactic acid fermentation, which can consequentially lower its yield^{37,90}.



Figure 10 - Simplified metabolism of the *A. succinogenes*. (1) PEPCK, (2) MDH, (3) Fse, (4) FR, (a) LDH. The numbers represent the metabolic pathways of Hsuc production, and the letter represent the Hlac formation that can supplant it. (adapted from Samuelov (1991))

There are four vital enzymes in the *A. succinogenes* worth mentioning in the production of Hsuc: 1) the phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinase (PEPCK); 2) the L-malate dehydrogenase (MDH); 3) the fumarase (Fse) and 4) the fumarate reductase (FR) (Figure 10). The first one (1) is known mainly for catalyzing the transformation of oxaloacetate into PEP with the release CO_2^{91-94} . However, it can also promote the inverse reaction, which is the base of Hsuc natural production, by consuming CO₂. Additionally, the activity of the PEPCK increases with the concentration of this molecule, since it will be the source of inorganic carbon to transform the PEP (three carbons) into the oxaloacetate (four carbons)^{37,57}. The concentration of CO₂ is therefore a factor that can be exploited to favor

the *A. succinogenes* metabolism in producing $Hsuc^{95}$. It is even possible to find studies, which suggest the use of waste CO₂ in Hsuc production bioprocesses, ultimately increasing its overall sustainability^{85,86,96}. The other three enzymes, the MDH (2), Fse (3), and FR (4), are responsible for catalyzing the conversion of oxaloacetate to malate, malate to fumarate and, finally, the fumarate to succinate, respectively. It is also worth mention that all these key enzymes are more active at slightly acidic values of pH^{57,85}.

2.2.3 Acetogenesis

In the *A. succinogenes* metabolism, the Hsuc production main competitor pathway generally is the acetogenesis, which makes the Hace its major fermentation byproduct This acid, besides its difficulty to be separated from the Hsuc, also contributes to the inhibition of the bacterium metabolism^{37,88}. Some reports suggest that the production of Hace is increased when the CO_2 concentration in the medium is low^{57,97}. Nonetheless, the formation of Hace can still be considerable at high CO_2 concentrations.

The acetogenesis is, therefore, one of the biggest challenges related with the use of *A. succinogenes* to produce Hsuc. Moreover, this pathway cannot be suppressed from the bacterium metabolism, since it constitutes a major source of ATP for the *A. succinogenes* and has a crucial role on the formation of pyruvate and ACoA^{35,37}, essential for the bacterium. Therefore, it is only possible to mitigate the production of Hace, thus a process to separate the Hsuc from the Hace will always be needed³⁷.

Despite the acetogenesis being the metabolic pathway which is the most competitive with the production of Hsuc, it is important to mention the existence of other byproducts of the *A. succinogenesis* metabolism, such as the Hfor, which can be more unwanted than the Hace, due to its inhibitory effect on the cellular growth, and the Hlac, which the metabolic pathway can, in specific conditions, supplant the production of Hsuc^{88,90}.

2.2.4 The effect of oxygen in the A. succinogenes metabolism

The lactic fermentation is the metabolic pathway that can supplant the formation of $Hsuc^{17,90}$. Similarly, from what happens with acetogenesis, this pathway expression is increased when the CO₂ concentration is low. However, another factor is believed to alter the *A. succinogenes* metabolism almost exclusively towards the production of Hlac: The presence of oxygen^{90,97}.

The metabolism of the *A. succinogenes* is still not fully understood, and so the reason why the oxygen can trigger the production of Hlac is mostly unknown. However, studies have already proven the ability of the *A. succinogenes* to generate large quantities of $Hlac^{17,90}$. The best results were achieved by implementing a two-phase fermentation, where the first phase was carried out under aerobiosis and a second, where the anaerobic condition were maintained by CO_2 sparging^{90,98}. The first phase is used to promote a metabolic shifting of the *A. succinogenes* to produce Hlac, while the second phase potentiate the overall metabolism of the bacterium, thus increasing the Hlac production⁹⁰. Additionally, the last phase do not make the *A. succinogenes* restart the production of Hsuc, despite that pathway being favored by the CO_2 concentration^{35,37}.

The study made by Li et al. has suggested that some enzymes are the root cause for the metabolic shift in the *A. succinogenes* that cannot be reversed by the posterior adding of CO₂. Two of the identified enzymes in which the activity is affected by the presence of O₂ are the carbonic anhydrase (CA) and the LDH⁹⁰. The first one is responsible for the passage of CO₂ to the bacterium interior. However, it was reported a diminish in the activity of the CA, when in contact with O₂, which consequently led to less CO₂ available for the bacteria^{90,97}. Ultimately, this contributes to a repression on the metabolic pathway responsible for the formation of Hsuc, since the PEPCK has less co-substrate to produce oxaloacetate^{85,97}.

The second referred enzyme, the LDH, is the responsible for catalyzing the transformation of pyruvate into Hlac. Contrarily from what happens with the CA, its activity increases in aerobic environments. Moreover, this increment do not change in the *A*. *succinogenes* metabolism when the conditions become anaerobic⁹⁰.

From this information it can be concluded that there are variations in some enzymes of the *A. succinogenes*, when the bacterium is exposed to O_2 , being the CA and the LDH the most described. Therefore, the O_2 is possibly responsible by altering the metabolism of the *A. succinogenes*, shifting the production of Hsuc to Hlac. Also, further adding CO_2 seems to not be enough to reset the bacterium metabolism to produce $Hsuc^{90}$. Thus, it can be concluded that maintaining anaerobiosis conditions when operating with *A. succinogenes*, can be advantageous for producing Hsuc.

2.2.5 Bioreactor operation modes

Some important parameters to define for a bioprocess are the operation modes. In the Hsuc production by *A. succinogenes*, it was already studied the feasibility to operate in batch, fed-batch and continuous, with the last two being the least studied^{59,60,88,95}. Nevertheless, it is vital to notice that in types of operation enunciated, the addition of CO_2 is a common factor due to this molecule importance in the production of Hsuc^{35,96}.

The batch fermentations are the simplest and easiest way to produce $Hsuc^{99,100}$. Innumerous studies have been carried out under this type of operation strategy, namely for the determination of *A. succinogenes* kinetic parameters^{87,96}. However, this type of operation has inherent disadvantages, the principal reason for the batch's low productivity and yield when compared with the continuous and fed-batch operations⁷. The accumulation of *A. succinogenes* fermentation products is the most notorious, and is due to bacterial organic acids production and growth inhibition⁸⁸. Also, the initial substrate concentration can have an inhibitory role on the *A. succinogenes*⁸⁷. Lin et al. (2008), have shown that this effect is evident for Glu concentrations above 70 g/L⁸⁷. When this is applied at an industrial level, can be disadvantageous since the maximum mass of Hsuc will be highly dependent on the reactor volume.

Working on fed-batch allows to avoid substrate inhibition while using a higher quantity of total sugar. This is made by feeding more substrate throughout the process, keeping the overall concentration bellow values that can be inhibitory^{87,100,101}. This way, it is possible to achieve a higher overall consumption of sugars per fermentation, consequently producing a higher concentration of Hsuc^{99,100}. Despite those pointed advantages, this

process can be hard to operate, typically requiring a previous comprehension of the fermentation profile of the *A. succinogenes*.

The operations in continuous are currently being perceived as the best way to conduct fermentations using *A. succinogenes*. The main advantage for that is the maintenance of optimum substrate concentration, while simultaneously eliminating the fermentation products, thus avoiding product inhibition^{66,100-102}. The main difficulty this mode of operation, besides the more expensive equipment, is the difficulty to accumulate enough biomass and prevent washout in the bioreactor. This can ultimately, compromise the yield and productivity of process^{40,59,103,104}. Therefore, complementary strategies like immobilization and biomass recirculation were already studied to address this problem^{40,44,60,101,102}.

The immobilization explores the capacity of the *A. succinogenes* to form biofilms, which not only enhance the growth and Hsuc production, but also avoid the washout of the biomass from the bioreactor^{40,78,95,102}. To explore that capacity, addition of physical supports with high surface areas to the process is made to promote the *A. succinogenes* biofilm formation^{60,102,104,105}. These supports are usually polymers and biopolymers, such as lignocellulosic material, that can sit freely on the reactor or being packed into it^{60,103,104}. Overall, this strategy allows a higher cell growth, due to the biofilm properties of the *A. succinogenes*. It can also avoid the biomass washout, leading to high biomass accumulation in the reactor when compared with cell free processes^{40,95,102}. Bioreactors with biomass membrane recirculation retain the *A. succinogenes* inside the reactor since fermentation medium is filtered⁵¹.

Those there were if two strategies to enhance the production of Hsuc, are hard to compare due to different variables between fermentations. However, they were already achieved productivity values higher than 1 g/L.h when applied immobilization technics. Finally, it is essential to mention that also batch and fed-batch fermentations can be optimized with biomass immobilization to improve the production of Hsuc⁶⁰.

In the Table 3 it is possible to compare those different modes of operations applied to the Hsuc production using *A.succinogenes*:

| Operation type | Operation Imobilization Substrate type type | | Recirculation | Titer (g/L) | Productivity (g/L.h) | Yield (g _{Hsuc} /g _s ubstrate) | ref |
|-------------------|--|-----------------------------|---------------|----------------|-------------------------|--|-----|
| Batch | Glu | n.a. | no | 33.8 | 1.35 | 0.62 | 84 |
| | SSL | Delignified wood sawdust | no | 13.4 | 0.39 | 0.57 | 60 |
| | | Alginate beads | no | 12.3 | 0.51 | 0.71 | 60 |
| Fed-batch | Glu | n.a. | no | 52.1 | 1.1 | 0.909 | 64 |
| | SSL | Delignified wood sawdust | no | 27.3 | 0.32 | 0.65 | 60 |
| | | Alginate beads | no | 36.8 | 0.39 | 0.81 | 60 |
| | Cane molasses | n.a. | no | 55.2 | 1.15 | nm | 65 |
| continuous | Glu | Groper1 particles | yes | 5-10 | 6.35 | 0.71 | 102 |
| | Glu | Steel wool | yes | 48.5 | n.m | 0.91 | 95 |
| | SSL | n.a. | no | 19 | 0.5 | 0.48 | 79 |
| | Xylose (Xyl)- enriched hydrolysate | Porous polypropylene | no | 26.4 | 2.64 | 0.77 | 40 |

Table 3 - Different operation modes with *A. succinogenes*, substrates, kinetic and operational parameters.

n.a. – Not availables

Observing the data of the Table 3, it is clear that the fed-batch fermentations are capable to achieve a higher Hsuc concentration than the batch, related to its higher total sugar that is consumption. However, since the fed-batch fermentations can maintain the sugars concentration bellow inhibitory levels, they allow the production of higher concentrations of Hsuc^{64,88,100}. With this type of fermentation it is possible to attain higher Hsuc yields than in batch by keeping the sugar concentration at values, which do not promote the production of byproducts^{84,88}. Finally, the productivity appears to be slightly lower in the fed-batch than in batch. However, its larger fermentation time can lead to the inclusion of points with low variation of Hsuc concentration, thus making the fed-batch fermentation look less productive than their batch counterparts.

Continuous operations have the ability to maintain optimal conditions as illustrated in the Table 3. Therefore, it can be seen this fermentation mode allows higher achievement on productivity and yield^{87,100}. The Hsuc concentration is normally lower when compared with fed-batch or even batch fermentations, due to the constant dilution caused by the continuous substrate feeding. However the overall Hsuc production is higher in continuous¹⁰⁰.

With this information, it is possible to admit that all the previous types of fermentations are suitable for producing Hsuc. It is necessary to understand that each one has its own advantages, such as the simple design and low cost of the batch fermentation, the high Hsuc concentrations achieved with fed-batch and the high productivity attained with the continuous operations. Therefore, choosing the adequate configuration of fermentation can be as important as choosing the right Hsuc producer.

29

2.3 Genetically modified producers

Sometimes the natural organisms do not have the desirable characteristics needed to be viable in an industrial Hsuc fermentation process. Therefore, genetic engineering can be used in those organisms to enhance their overall productivity, thus making them suitable for industrial use. Moreover, there are well-understand organisms, in which the Hsuc production is scarce or cannot accumulate at all, like what happen with *Escherichia coli* and *S. cerevisiae* respectively. In this case genetical engineering is vital in turning MOs like those into efficient Hsuc producers^{106,107}.

In the following table, there will be presented genetically altered MO already tested for Hsuc production:

| | | | _ | | | | |
|--|-------------------------------------|--|-----------|-------------|-------------------------|---|-----|
| Specie and strain Overexpressed/added pathways genes/ | | Underexpressed genes/knocked out pathways | Substrate | Titer (g/L) | Productivity (g/L.h) | Yield (g _{Hsuc} /g _{substrate}) | Ref |
| A. succinogenes FZ53 | none | Production of Hfor and Hace | Glu | 105.8 | 1.36 | 0.83 | 108 |
| C. glutamicum CRZ1 | Pyruvate carboxylase reaction | none | Glu | n.m. | 3.7 | 0.71 | 81 |
| B. succiniciproducens LU15224 | none | Production of Hlac and Hfor | Glycerol | 36.20 | 1.51 | 1.26 | 109 |
| M. succiniciproducens LPK7 | None | Production of Hlac and Hfor | Glu | 52.43 | 1.80 | 0.76 | 110 |
| E. coli NZN111 | Malate dehydrogenase reaction | Production of Hlac and Hfor | Glu | 15.2 | 1.01 | 0.72 | 111 |
| Yarrowia lipolytica | none | Succinate dehydrogenase reaction | Glu | 10.7 | 0.22 | 0.23 | 112 |
| Saccharomyces cerevisiae AH22ura3 | None | Succinate dehydrogenase and isocitrate dehydrogenase reactions | Glu | 3.62 | n.m. | 0.072 | 106 |

Table 4 - Genetically modified organims operated in batch, their modifications, substrates, and kinetic and operational parameters.

In the first example (Table 4 - Genetically modified organims operated), the *A. succinogenes* FZ53, a patented strain, was genetically modified in order to produce less Hace and Hform. It is possible that the modified genes were the ones responsible for expressing the acetate kinase (AcK) and the pyruvate formate-lyase (PFL)^{37,57}, despite this information not being described in the patent. Having less byproducts led to productivities higher than any other wild type strain presented in the table 2. Other possible editions that can be done in this bacterium genome, could be the deletion of the gene responsible for the lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) expression^{49,90}. Some studies describe the gene responsible for the lactate unexpressed. However, when expressed it can compromise the Hsuc production as shown in the topic 2.2.4. Therefore, suppressing the metabolic pathway linked to the LDH could be a crucial step to ensure the Hsuc production. The reported results are the best presenting the highest concentration and yield for Hsuc respectively of 105.8 g/L and 0.83 gHsuc/gsubstrat¹¹².

C. glutamicum can also be enhanced to produce Hsuc. In the example represented in the Table 4, the gene which expresses the Pyruvate Carboxylase was overexpressed. This shifted the *C. glutamicum* CRZ1 metabolism towards the production of $Hsuc^{81}$, thus leading to an increase in both the productivity and yield when compared to the wild type. In addition, there are additional gene editing that can be used to improve the Hsuc production, such as knocking out the gene responsible to express the LDH, disabling the Hlac production⁴⁹.

The bacteria *B. succiniciproducens* and *M. succiniciproducens* have a similar metabolism, characterized by commonly producing Hlac. It is, therefore, advantageous to knock out the genes responsible for expressing the LDH, allowing to shift most of the metabolism towards the Hsuc production^{49,110,113,114}. This is verified in the *M. succiniciproducens* LPK7 when compared with respective wild type strain. For the example of *B. succiniciproducens*, it was possible to achieve a higher yield, however there was the use of a different substrate for this fermentation, whichmust be also highlighted. The *B. succiniciproducens*, also achieved a productivity much higher when compared to the wild type. Finally, it is important to mention that in both *M. succiniciproducens* LPK7 and *B. succiniciproducens* LU15224, the gene responsible for the expression of PFL was slightly repressed. This eventually led to decreased production of Hfor, thus enhancing the production of Hsuc.

In an example present on the Table 4, a *E. coli* was submitted to a less common genetic alteration. Normally in that bacterium, only the genes responsible for expressing the LDH and PFL are knocked out (characteristic of the NZN111 strain), hence stopping the production of Hlac and Hfor^{49,88}. However, this study overexpressed the gene responsible for expression of malate dehydrogenase (MDH), which was expected to increase the metabolic flux towards the production of Hsuc. Nevertheless, that led to a higher NADH/NAD⁺ ratio, which impaired the recombinant strain growth¹¹¹. It was, however, possible to attain higher yields with this *E. coli* NZN111 than with other recombinant strains without the MDH gene editing. Still, those values are bellow other experiments where the PyC was overexpressed^{49,111,115}.

In the eukaryotic specter there were works already made for the production of Hsuc namely in *S. cerevisiae* and *Y. lipolytica*. In both examples the gene responsible for expressing the succinate dehydrogenase was knouckout, otherwise the Hsuc would be normally consumed in the citric acid cycle^{49,106,112}. Even with the aid of genetic engineering, the yield and productivity in both MOs was low compared to natural producers. In the case of the *S. cerevisiae* the gene responsible for expressing the isocitrate dehydrogenase, was also knocked out, allowing to further shift the metabolic flux to a more direct pathway for Hsuc production¹⁰⁶.

In conclusion, it is possible to assert that genetically modified Hsuc producers have usually better performance than their parental wild types. The cost and know-how associated with their creation can, however, constitutes a difficult challenge.

2.4 Biotechnological Hsuc downstream processes

The extraction and purification processes constitute the biggest challenges that the Hsuc biotechnological production has to face^{31,116}. They can make up 50% of the total Hsuc production cost, due the expensive and sometimes complex processes. Moreover, in bioprocesses that use complex substrates such as the *E. globulus* kraft pulp hydrolysate, some molecules can eventually interfere with the downstream processes^{19,117,118}. The pH values in which the bioprocess is operated can also influence the Hsuc separation and purification processes, since it can alter the Hsuc protonation^{119,120}. All of this can ultimately lead to the addition of more separation and purification steps, increasing the overall Hsuc production cost ¹¹⁸.

In other perspective, the byproducts of the *A. succinogenes* increase the difficulty of downstream processes. This can be associated with the somehow similar characteristics between Hsuc and the other organic acids, which can cause interference in the separation process. Originally the separation was achieved through precipitation and liquid-liquid extraction. However, they presented serious disadvantages like sludge formation and low partition coefficients, respectively^{116,121}. The use of reactive liquid-liquid extraction (including supercritical CO₂ and the usage of liquid emulsion membranes) is presently described as a useful alternative^{122,123}. The Hsuc combination with other molecules allows for higher partition coefficients without sludge formation^{116,121,124–129}. However, in order to achieve higher purities it is necessary the use of additional purification processes such as chromatography, which inevitably increases the production costs ^{116,121,128,130,131}. Despite this it is important to mention that some Hsuc applications require its high purity, thus justifying the higher cost of additional purification processes.

Concluding, the downsteam processes can be the limiting issue in the Hsuc production, making up around half of its production cost. To change this, new technics have been developed to allow better separation of Hsuc from undesirable molecules. Finally, it is important to take in mind that the choice of the substrate can influence the efficiency and cost of the whole downstream process.

2.5 Biotecnological Hsuc perspectives

Nowadays the biotechnological Hsuc production is facing a major challenge, the decreasing of the oil prices⁵³. The main factor that promoted a substantial shift from the petrochemical industry to the biotechnology was the high oil prices verified in 2007, which suggest the inverse can happen³⁶. Presently the main companies that produce bio Hsuc are Succinicity, Roquette and Myriant, after the largest producer, Bioamber opened bankruptcy in 2018 ^{53,132}. Additionally, the joint venture where the company Roquette participate was dissolved leaving that company with the production rights of bio Hsuc.

Despite the dreaded forecast for the biotechnological produced Hsuc, it is important to remember its potential as alternative to the petrochemical industry³⁶. The main justification is the advantage CO₂ consumption during the fermentation, hence being an industrial process that can balance CO₂ emissions^{36,46,51}. Also, as new downstream technologies and specialized producing strains are being developed¹³³, Hsuc production cost will probably decrease and eventually compete again with the price of petrochemical produced Hsuc.

All in all, bio Hsuc production concept was designed to face the increasing prices of oil verified in 2007⁵³, without having in mind the recent petrochemical market evolution. Nonetheless, environment concerns can be the leading reason to develop more efficient bio Hsuc production plants, more sustainable than the petrochemical ones.

2.6 Objectives

This present work aimed to evaluating the production of Hsuc, using a lignocellulosic material as feedstock. The lignocellulosic biomass used was obtained from *E. globulus*, pretreated with the kraft process. This step was a fundamental pretreatment for delignify the lignocellulosic biomass. The pretreated and hydrolyzed pulp was used to produce Hsuc using the bacterium *A. succinogenes* as biocatalyst, due to its high Hsuc productivity. Preliminary fermentations to acquire reference points were done in anaerobic shake flasks. The batch fermentations were carried out in bioreactor with pH control and CO₂ sparging. In order to optimize the Hsuc production different concentrations were evaluated. It was also conducted a fed-batch fermentation to achieve higher Hsuc concentrations without having inhibition by substrate.

3

Materials and Methods

3.1 Enzymatic Hydrolysis

The enzymatic hydrolysis of kraft pulp was performed using250 g (DW) of unbleached *E. globulus* kraft pulp provided by RAIZ (Forest and Paper Research Institute) mixed with citrate buffer 0.05 M (sodium citrate) to obtain a total volume of 3 L. The enzyme consortium was added aiming to obtain a total enzymatic load and activity of 20 FPU/g and 242 FPU/mL, respectively.

The reaction was performed in a vessel inside a 50 °C heated bath, submitted to a constant mechanical stirring of 100 rpm and pH was kept between 5.5 and 4.5. When the temperature inside the vessel reached 50 °C, the right amount of the enzyme consortium was added. To monitor the reaction, samples were taken and both the pH and the concentration of reducing sugars were analyzed. To adjust the pH to the pre-established values, concentrated NaOH or H₂SO₄ were added manually, until the pH was within the intended range. The hydrolysis was finished after 24 h, and the hydrolysate was centrifuged (Herceus, Megafuge 16 R Centrifugue) at 4 °C and 3000 rpm for 30 min, to remove the suspended solids. The hydrolysate was sterilized afterwards at 121 °C for 20 min and centrifuged again at the same conditions to remove any formed precipitate. Elemental analysis to the magnesium was carried by the Central Analysis Laboratory of the University of Aveiro, to quantify the Mg²⁺ present in the WPH.

The hydrolysis reaction was repeated 4 times in order to obtain nearly 10 L of hydrolysate. The final hydrolysate was then frozen in 500 mL bottles at -18 °C.

3.2 Fermentations

All the fermentations were done in asepsis conditions provided by a laminar flow hood (B. Braun Horizontal 4). All the materials and media were sterilized at 121 °C for 20 min (Uniclav 88), always keeping the sugars separated from the other medium components to avoid Maillard reactions. The separated components were then mixed inside the laminar flow hood to avoid contaminations. For flask anaerobic fermentations the flasks were encapsulated with chlorobuthyl stoppers allowing for purging and the maintenance of anaerobiosis.

3.2.1 Media preparation

In this work, three different media for growth and fermentation were used. The Tryptic Soy Broth (TSB) medium (Fluka), the synthetic medium and the wood pulp hydrolysate (WPH) medium.

The TSB medium (Table 5) was used for growing pre-inocula and inocula. It was prepared by diluting a commercial TSB mixture with water to achieve the concentrations presented in Table 5, and the pH was adjusted to 7.3 with H₂SO₄ or NaOH.

| Components | Concentration (g/L) |
|--------------------------------------|------------------------|
| Casein peptone | 17.00 |
| Dipotassium hydrogen phosphate | 2.50 |
| Glu | 2.50 |
| Sodium chloride | 5.00 |
| Soya peptone | 3.00 |

| Table 5 - ' | TSB | medium | com | position |
|-------------|-----|--------|-----|----------|
|-------------|-----|--------|-----|----------|

The synthetic medium was produced to mimic the Glu/Xyl ratio present in the wood pulp hydrolysate medium. This medium was prepared similarly to Xi et al. (2011), using both Glu and Xyl (Table 6). The total concentration of both monosaccharides was 50 g/L, with Glu making up 80% (w/w) of the total sugars and Xyl the remaining 20% (w/w).

| Components | Media | | | | | | |
|--|-----------|------|--|--|--|--|--|
| Components | Synthetic | WPH | | | | | |
| Substrate | | | | | | | |
| Glu (g/L) | 40.0 | - | | | | | |
| Xyl (g/L) | 10.0 | - | | | | | |
| Hydrolysate (% v/v) | - | 74 | | | | | |
| <u>Supplement</u> | | | | | | | |
| KH ₂ PO ₄ (g/L) | 3.0 | 3.0 | | | | | |
| MgCl.6H ₂ O (g/L) | 0.2 | 0.2 | | | | | |
| CaCl ₂ .2H ₂ O (g/L) | 0.2 | 0.2 | | | | | |
| NaCl (g/L) | 0.1 | 0.1 | | | | | |
| Yeast extract (g/L) | 10.0 | 10.0 | | | | | |

Table 6 - Composition of the fermentation media

The medium with WPH was prepared to match the concentration of each component according to Xi et al. (2011), as shown in Table 6. Both the hydrolysate and the supplement solution were mixed in the laminar flow hood into a sterile bottle, and the pH was corrected with concentrated H_2SO_4 or NaOH.

3.2.2 Microbial culture

The MO used in this work was the bacterium *A. succinogenes* 130Z provided by DSMZ in the freeze-dried state.

The bacterium was reactivated with 0.5 ml of TSB medium previously purged with N_2 to ensure anaerobic conditions. The 0.5 ml containing the bacterium were then, equally divided by two 10 ml flasks, encapsulated with clorobuthyl stoppers, containing 5 m/L of TSB medium and purged with N_2 (filtered through a membrane with 0.22 μ m porous

diameter). All this procedure was done in an anaerobic chamber (in Biology Department), to avoid any contact with oxygen.

Finally, the flasks were introduced in an orbital incubator (Stuart SI500) at 37 °C and 140 rpm for 24h, being then transferred for a fresh TSB medium.

3.2.3 Preparation of the pre-inoculum and inoculum

The pre-inoculum was prepared in sterilized 100 mL anaerobic encapsulated flasks, containing 50 mL of TSB medium, purged with N₂ (filtered through a membrane with 0.22 μ m porous diameter) for 5 min at 1 vvm. 1 mL of a stock culture of *A. succinogenes* was introduced in it and incubated for 24 h. 0.5 mL of this culture was then used in the inoculum, also done in 100 mL anaerobic flask with 50 mL of TSB medium, already purged. The inoculum was incubated for 14 h before being transferred for each respective fermentation. For each experiment it was inoculated a culture percentage of 5.8% (v_{inoculum}/v_{fermentation medium).}

3.2.4 Fermentations in shake flasks

The inoculum was prepared as described in 3.4 and used to inoculate the shake flasks after the 14 h of incubation

Anaerobic fermentations were conducted in 100 ml anaerobic shake flasks with 85 ml of the respective media (synthetic or WPH), containing an additional 4.25 g of NaHCO₃. The flasks with the media were encapsulated with chlorobutyl stoppers and purged with 1 vvm of N₂ filtered through a membrane, with a porous diameter of 0.22 μ m for 5 minutes. After inoculation all the flasks were incubated at 37 °C and 140 rpm.

In the case of the aerobic fermentations the conditions besides the purge with N_2 were similar, using 100 mL Erlenmeyer flasks instead of anaerobic shake flasks.

3.2.5 Fermentations in Bioreactor

All bioreactor fermentations were carried out in a B Braun bioreactor using a custom built 1260 mL vessel, working with constant agitation of 200 rpm. The pH was automatically controlled by an analog controller (Hannah Instruments 8711) linked to a pump (B. Braun). The solution used for correcting the pH values was NaOH 10 M. Temperature was maintained at 37 °C by a circulating thermostatic bath and CO₂ was continuously sparged, at a constant flowrate of 0.1 vvm.

One Batch fermentation was promoted using synthetic media and three using WPH with addition of 0 g/L, 10 g/L or 20 g/L of magnesium carbonate (light, Panreac). The working volume was 700 mL.

One Fed-batch fermentation was conducted with WPH (0 g/L MgCO₃) starting with a volume of 600 mL. The feeding pulses were composed by 200 mL WPH (with no added salts), concentrated to a factor of three by rotary evaporation (60 °C and 200 rpm), with latter addition of 20 g/L of yeast extract (40 mL). These feeding solutions were introduced by a peristaltic pump (Watson-Marlow) at defined times, according to the previous batch results.

3.3 Analytical Methods

Samples were taken periodically, to monitor the optical density (OD) at 660 nm and after 5 min of centrifugation at 10000 rpm, each sample supernatant was collected and frozen at -18 °C to further analysis.

3.3.1 Cell concentration

Cell concentration was estimated by OD (UV Mini-1240, Shimadzu) at 660 nm. Appropriate dilutions were made with the medium itself for the TSB fermentations, and a 0.9% solution of NaCl was used for the other media fermentations. A calibration curve for each media was made to relate OD values with biomass concentration: the OD of the appropriate dilutions of standard culture (in early stationary phase) were used in each calibration curve and related with cell dry weight. 9.00 mL of each culture were filtered through a 0.22 μ m membrane and then dried at 105 °C, until constant weight, duplicates were evaluated. The dry weight was used, for calculating cell concentration and determination of respective calibration curves.

3.3.2 Chromatography

High-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC):

Before being loaded in the HPLC equipment, the samples from all fermentations were diluted by a factor of 20 and filtered through a 0.22 μ m membrane (Eppendorf minispin). The samples constituents were separated with an ion-exchange RezexTM ROA-Organic Acid column (internal diameter of 7.8 mm and length of 300 mm), able to separate organic acids, monosacharides and alcohols analyzed by a refractive index (RI) detector (Hitachi L-2490) module. The eluent used was a 0.005 N solution of H₂SO₄, pumped through the system at 500 μ L/min (40 °C), and 10 μ L of each sample and standards were automatically injected by the auto-sampler (Hitachi L- 2200) and ran through the system for 45 min.

The peaks in the chromatogram were converted into concentration values by the calibration curves of the respective compounds. These curves were determined using standards of Hace, Hace, Hfor, Hsuc, Glu, Xyl and EtOH, prepared from a stock solution of 5 g/L of each component. Obtained data was then processed in Microsoft Excel. The linear regression for the calibration curves were made using the function "LINEST", assuming the X values as the known concentration and the Y values as the determined area. The obtained equations allowed conversion of the peak area, calculated by the equipment software, into concentration values.

Ligand exchange/Size exclusion (LEX/SEC) chromatography:

A different chromatography was used to evaluate the oligomers present in the WPH. The column was a semi-preparative LEX-SEC Shodex sugar KS 2002 column (internal diameter of 20 mm and length of 300 mm), coupled to a RI and UV detector (Knauer K-2401). The eluent used was water, with a pH value of 6.5 and it was pumped through the system with a 2.80 mL/min flowrate. In each analysis 0.5 mL of a previously filtered and diluted sample, was used.

3.7.3 WPH reducing sugars determination by dinitrosalicylic (DNS) acid

100 mL of the reagent were prepared by dissolving 1.0 g of DNS acid (Acros Organic) in 20 mL of NaOH 2 M solution at 70 °C. This step was done slowly to avoid the DNS precipitation. After the dilution had been completed, 30 g of potassium and sodium tartarate was added to the solution. The final volume was adjusted with water to achieve 100 mL. DNS reagent was then filtered to remove any suspended particles and it was stored in a dark bottle to preserve it from photodegradation.

The determination of reducing sugars was done by adding 1 mL of the DNS reagent to 1 mL of a properly diluted WPH sample, in a test tube. This mixture was then allowed to react for 5 min in a boiling water bath, being then stopped by chilling the test tubes in ice. Lastly, 8 mL of water were added and the absorbance at 540 nm was analyzed. The results were converted into reducing sugars concentration using a calibration curve, where the standards were solutions of Glu.

3.3.4 Initial WPH sugars determination by anthrone method

Anthrone method was used to determine the total concentration of sugars in the beginning of the fermentations in WPH. The 0,2% (w/v) reagent was prepared by dissolving the anthrone in 98% (v/v) H₂SO₄. This step was done in an iced bath to assure the stability of the anthrone reagent. To evaluate the total sugar concentration, 1.0 mL of a properly diluted samples were cooled in test tubes, to which were added 4.0 mL of cold anthrone reagent. The samples were allowed to react for 10 min in a boiling water bath, being cooled in an ice bath, to stop the reaction.

The absorbance at 620 nm was then measured and compared with the respective calibration curve, for determining the concentration of total sugars. The standards used in the calibration curve were prepared using 80 % (w/w) Glu and 20 % (w/w) Xyl.

3.3.5 Calculation methods of fermentation parameters

Volumetric productivity rate (r_p), was calculated according to Equation 1, where P₀ and P are respectively the initial and highest concentrations of Hsuc, Hlac, Hfor or Hace and t is the time until P is attained:

$$r_p(g/L \cdot h) = \frac{P(g/L) - P_0(g/L)}{t(h)}$$
 Equation 1

• Product or biomass yields ($Y_{P/S}$ or $Y_{X/S}$) were calculated according to Equation 2, where P_0 and P are respectively the initial and final concentrations of Hsuc, Hlac, Hfor, Hace or biomass, and the S_0 and S_f are respectively the initial and final substrate concentrations. It is also important to mention that, for the biomass yield calculation, the initial and final points selected were within the exponential phase:

$$Y_{(g_{P or X}/g_{S})} = \frac{P(g/L) - P_{0}(g/L)}{S_{0}(g/L) - S_{f}(g/L)}$$
 Equation 2

Maximum specific growth rate (µ_{max}) was calculated using the linearization of Equation 3. The t₀ and t_x represent the initial and final of the exponential phase. The X₀ and X_{tx} represent the respective initial biomass concentration and the corresponding concentration on the final time point, of the exponential phase:

$$X_t = X_0 \cdot e^{\mu_{max}(t_x - t_0)}$$
 Equation 3

• Succinic acid to total organic acids ratio (Hsuc/organic acids ratio) was calculated using the Equation 4. Each organic acid abbreviation represents each product

concentration. It should be mentioned that the Hsuc was considered for the total organic acid concentration:

Hsuc/organic acids ratio =
$$\frac{Hsuc}{Hsuc + Hlac + Hace + Hfor}$$
 Equation 4

4 Succinic acid production using lignocellulosic wastes: Feasibility to integrate kraft pulp hydrolysates as feedstock

Pulps hydrolysis was promoted to produce the hydrolysate used in this work and the study started with a synthetic medium assay for evaluating *A. succinogenes* kinetic behavior. The results were used as reference for the fermentations with WPH. This assay allowed to analyze possible inhibitory effect caused by the hydrolysate, or the lack of micronutrients, which could influence the bacterial growth and productivity.

4.1 Enzymatic hydrolysis

Prior to the hydrolysis the pulps were characterized in RAIZ (Forest and Paper Research Institute) being the respective composition shown in the Appendix V.1

In the end of the hydrolysis 10.725 L of WPH were obtained, with a reducing sugar concentration of 75.0 g/L (Figure 11), corresponding to a final mass of 803.0 g and an enzymatic yield of 73.8 %. Also, the HPLC results shown that the final hydrolysate is composed by 82.3% of Glu and 17.7 % of Xyl.



Figure 11 - Evolution of the reducing sugars concentration of the kraft pulp hydrolysis

Documented studies by De Bari et al. (2013) of enzymatic hydrolysis in *A. donax* (with a similar enzymatic load) revealed similar yields. However, these results also revealed that the hydrolysis yield obtained in the present study could be improved, if the reaction time would be increased¹³⁴. Despite this, it is important to take into consideration the industrial context explored in this study. In that the productivity is one of the most key factors in the industry and it must be taken into consideration. Therefore, the enzymatic reaction was deliberately stopped after 24 h to avoid unnecessary energy losses and to ensure the highest productivities.

A LEX/SEC chromatography was used to identify the level of polymerization of the sugars present in the WHP. The results presented in Figure 12 revealed that some oligomers, mainly dimmers, could certainly remain in the WPH after the hydrolyses step. These are not detected by the HPLC, thus showing an apparent lower sugars concentration. Since the *A*. *succinogenes* can degrade small oligomers, such as cellobiose^{77,82}, this factor can lead to apparent increases in the sugar concentration, which are later evident in the WPH time

courses. This variation can induce default calculation errors on consumed sugars, thus resulting in apparent higher yield. Additionally, with the LEX/SEC chromatography it was possible to confirm by comparison with previous studies in the same LEX/SEC column, the presence of phenolic compounds¹³⁵.



Figure 12 - Result of the LEX-SEC chromatography. The continuous line represents the chromatogram obtained by the RI detector in the Knauer K-2401 module and the dotted line represents the chromatogram obtained by the UV detector also present in the Knauer K-2401 module.

4.2 Fermentation in anaerobic shake flasks

The fermentations in anaerobic flasks were performed to test the feasibility of producing Hsuc in both the synthetic and WPH medium. As inorganic CO₂ source it was used NaHCO₃.

Figure 13 shows the time course of the synthetic medium fermentation. There was a lag phase of 5 h and the exponential phase until 10 h of fermentation. After that, the *A*. *succinogenes* faced a pH inhibition⁶⁴ since biomass production was impaired, in contrast to the organic acid production. The maximum Hsuc concentration obtained was 8.0 g/L and there was still more than 20 g/L of Glu remaining in the medium. Certainly, no more Glu was converted in Hsuc because pH has decreased below 5.5, (5.2 in the end of the fermentation) inhibiting *A. succinogenes* fermentation. As for the Hfor and the Hace, their respective concentrations were 3.0 g/L and 3.5 g/L.

This result can be compared with the studies made by Liu et al. $(2008)^{64}$ carried out with an initial pH value of 7.2, achieving a maximum concentration of 8.0 g/L of succinic acid similar to the value attained by the present study⁶⁴.



Figure 13 - Evolution of the sugars, organic acids, pH and biomass in the shake flask fermentation in synthetic medium in anaerobic flask

The results obtained with the WPH (Figure 14), demonstrated a final Hsuc concentration of 7.5 g/L at a final pH of 5.4, with a biomass concentration of 1.9 g/L. However, these results show a significant difference compared to the synthetic medium, due to Hlac production (7.1 g/L). Such fact was firstly attributed to the presence of a contaminant bacterium. Previous reported studies shown the vulnerability of A. succinogenes cultures towards contaminations, specially by lactic acid bacteria (LAB), such as Lactobacillus and *Streptococcus*¹³⁶. To evaluate this issue, a final sample was taken from the fermentation and used to inoculate two distinct media: The TSB agar and the De Man, Rogosa and Sharpe (MRS) agar, a selective medium where the contaminant bacteria are able to grow, while the A. succinogenes would be inhibited¹³⁷. This experiment however, revealed a total absence of colonies in the MRS medium, in contrast to what happened with the TSB medium, where a large number of colonies were observed in pure culture. This led to conclude that the Hlac production was in fact being caused by the A. succinogenes metabolism. It has been already shown that this bacterium contains the genes necessary to express the enzyme LDH, ultimately responsible for the Hlac production¹³⁸. Although these genes are normally inactive, the presence of oxygen can induce their expression. During the inoculation and culture transference it can be possible that a small quantity of oxygen entered in contact with the bacterium, thus changing part of its metabolism^{90,139}. The whole fermentation was repeated with another cryotube of this bacterium, in order to avoid the Hlac production. Although, this assay was unsuccessful in avoiding its production.

The lower biomass concentration observed in the WPH fermentation was predictable since this substrate demonstrated residual amounts of phenolic compounds. These are known to inhibit the *A. succinogenes* growth^{20,140}. The higher concentration of byproducts, including the Hace (5.3 g/L) can be attributed to the possible Mg^{2+} ions present in the WPH. These ions occur naturally in the *E. globulus* and can potentiate metabolic pathways which can compete with the Hsuc production. Further WPH ion-mobility spectrometry analysis carried out by the University's Central Analysis Laboratory revealed that the Mg^{2+} concentration was unintentionally twice as much, compared with the synthetic medium.



Figure 14 - Evolution of the sugars, organic acids, pH and biomass in the shake flask fermentation in WPH medium in anaerobic flask

In Table 7 the results regarding both fermentation are compared and the obtained μ_{max} of 0.558 h⁻¹ in synthetic medium was higher than the value obtained for the WPH (0.431 h⁻¹). This agrees with the lower concentration of biomass attained and can be attributed to the inhibitory effect caused by residual phenolic compounds certainly present in the WPH^{20,140}. Additionally, both fermentation results were according to the review made by Brink & Nicol (2014), in which the normal μ_{max} values for *A. succinogenes* were described between 0.400 h⁻¹ and 0.800 h^{-1 105}.

| | | | Hsuc | | | Hsuc/organic | |
|---------------------|--|---------------|--------------|-------------------------|----------|--------------|--|
| Fermentation | $\mu_{\text{max}} = (\mathbf{h}^{-1})$ | Concentration | Productivity | Yield | consumed | asida ratio | |
| | (h ⁻¹) (g/L) | (g/L) | (g/L.h) | (g_{Hsuc}/g_{sugars}) | (g/L) | acius fatio | |
| Synthetic medium | 0.558 | 8.0 | 0.318 | 0.502 | 15.9 | 0.551 | |
| WPH medium | 0.431 | 7.5 | 0.251 | 0.608* | 12.3 | 0.330 | |

Table 7 - Results of the fermentations in anaerobic flask comparing all the kinetic parameters, related to the Hsuc, and the sugar consumption

* Determined with errors induced by the oligomers present in the WPH

The obtained productivity and yield in the synthetic medium were 0.318 g/L.h and 0.502 g_{Hsuc}/g_{sugars} , respectively. These results confirm that *A. succinogenes* culture was similar to those presented in the literature. Regarding the WPH medium, Hsuc productivity was negatively affected however, the obtained yield, 0.608 g_{Hsuc}/g_{sugars} , was unexpectedly higher than that obtained with the synthetic medium (0.502 g_{Hsuc}/g_{sugars}), due to the presence of oligomers.

In both fermentations it was observed more than 70% of unconsumed sugars, which happened due to an early ending of the fermentation. The reason of this is the acidogenic fermentation responsible for the dropping of the pH for values bellow 5.5, which is considered the lowest value for *A. succinogenes* metabolic activity⁸⁵. This led to the inhibition of the cell growth and organic acids production, reason why no further sugar consumption was verified. These results suggest that an operation conducted in bioreactor, with pH control would increase the overall production of Hsuc.
4.3 Fermentation in aerobic shake flask

To evaluate the effect of oxygen in the metabolism of the *A. succinogenes* in WPH, a fermentation was conducted in an Erlenmeyer flask with a cotton stopper. As expected when subjected to aerobiosis it was verified that *A. succinogenes* could not produce any Hsuc, and besides Hace and Hform it produced Hlac (Figure 15). Furthermore, this result obtained in this experiment is according to that described by Li et al. (2010), after exposing the *A. succinogenes* to different aeration conditions Regarding the biomass growth, the results were lower than those obtained in the anaerobic fermentation since a maximum value of 1.3 g/L was attained instead of 1.8 g/L. This maximum here obtained is not possible to compare with the literature, due to the lack of studies in aerobiosis. However, it is possible to associate the low biomass production with the absence of production of Hsuc, which is a major contributor for the *A. succinogenes* metabolism of biosynthesis³⁷.

The concentration of Hlac was similar in both anaerobic and aerobic fermentations (7.1 g/L). The yield of Hlac in the aerobic fermentation (0.907 g_{Hlac}/g_{sugars}) was higher when compared with the anaerobic fermentation (0.578 g_{Hlac}/g_{sugars}). This result may lead to the assumption that the Hlac concentration should be higher in the aerobic fermentation. Such did not happen, because NaHCO₃ was not present in this fermentation. Without the buffer effect of that salt, the pH values rapidly dropped to critical levels, thus repressing the bacterium metabolism. Without the buffer effect of that salt, the pH values rapidly dropped to critical levels, thus repressing the bacterium metabolism. With both the aerobic and anaerobic experiments it is possible to observe the result of the gene expression described by Zang et al. (2019)¹³⁸. In their study it was evidenced that under aerobiosis, the genes responsible for the Hsuc production were repressed, whilst the genes responsible for the Hlac production were activated. However, when subjected to an aerobic phase followed by an anerobic phase, the A. succinogenes expressed both Hsuc and Hlac production pathways. This reported experiment led to the conclusion, that by exposing the A. succinogenes to oxygen, can induce production of Hlac from the sugars, in the WPH. Additionally, it is suggested that a small amount of O₂ can be enough to induce a metabolic shift throughout the successive bacterium generations, leading to the increase in Hlac production.



Figure 15 - Evolution of the sugars, organic acids, pH and biomass in the shake flask fermentation in WPH medium under aerobic conditions

4.4 Fermentation in bioreactor

Experiments with pH control were conducted in a bioreactor also with CO_2 sparging. The main objective was to extend fermentation since the pH was controlled promoting efficiency and to increase the fermentation scale. In the other hand CO_2 was used as one of the reactants for metabolic production of Hsuc and to input a positive pressure inside the bioreactor preventing O_2 entrance.



Figure 16 - Evolution of the sugars, organic acids and biomass in the bioreactor fermentation in synthetic medium with pH control at 6.7 and CO_2 sparging

In Figure 16 it is represented the time course relative to the bioreactor experiment using synthetic medium. 19.0 g/L of Hsuc and 4.0 g/L of biomass were, however it was also observed the production of Hlac (8.0 g/L) with a negative impact in the final Hsuc concentration, as can be noticed when compared to the literature data. Regarding the concentrations of the Hace and Hfor, they were 7.8 g/L and 6.5 g/L, respectively. As expected, the pH control extended the fermentation resulting in complete sugars consumption by the *A. succinogenes* and such led to the higher Hsuc and biomass relative to

the experiments in the anaerobic flasks. This experiment was also easier to compare with the literature since there is a considerable number of studies involving similar conditions and with pH control. It is common to find biomass concentration values between 3.7 g/L and 5.5 g/L, corresponding respectively to the lowest value obtained with the high content of sodium utilized, by Corona-Gonzalez et al. (2008) and the highest value, associated with the use of a higher concentration of yeast extract obtained by Kim et al. (2009)^{84,141}. The biomass concentration in the present study (4.0 g/L) fits inside such range assuring again that this *A. succinogenes* culture was according to what was expected. However, the same was not verified for the Hsuc concentration since regarding this product it is common to find attained concentrations above 30 g/L^{56,142}, higher than the obtained in this experiment (19.0 g/L). Nonetheless, these differences can be justified by the unexpected production of Hlac, which consequently was a product from sugars utilization metabolic carbon shift from the Hsuc production pathway to the Hlac fermentation pathway.



Figure 17 - Evolution of the sugars, organic acids, and biomass in the bioreactor fermentation in WPH medium with pH control at 6.7 and CO₂ sparging.

The second phase of the bioreactor study was to evaluate the fermentation in the WPH medium (Figure 17). As previously mentioned, this substrate naturally can have an inhibitory effect due to residual phenolic compounds left over by the kraft process. Consequently, this caused a lower biomass concentration compared to the bioreactor fermentation in synthetic medium, thus obtaining a value close to 3.0 g/L. Nonetheless, the attained Hsuc concentration of 19.9 g/L was higher than the value obtained by the synthetic medium fermentation in the same conditions. Certainly, the reason for that was caused by the unintentionally higher concentration of sugar, an error produced by the presence of small oligomers, not quantified by the HPLC. That reason is further evidenced by the apparent increment in the sugar concentration illustrated in the graphic, which was linked to the degradation of those oligomers by the A. succinogenes. To solve the issue related to monosaccharides concentration, the anthrone total sugar quantification method was explored. Resorting to that method, the initial concentration determined was 60.2 g/L, instead of the 48 g/L observed in the Figure 17. This higher amount of substrate is the only reason why the A. succinogenes produced a larger concentration of Hsuc in the WPH medium, despite the apparently similar conditions relative to the synthetic medium fermentation. Regarding the Hlac (11.6 g/L), Hfor (6.8 g/L) and Hace (9.8 g/L), their values were higher than the obtained in the fermentation with the synthetic medium. Howvere this occurrence can be again explained by the presence of higher Mg²⁺ concentrations in the WPH.

| Fermentation | μ _{max} (h ⁻¹) | | Hsuc | Sugars | Hsuc/organic | |
|---------------------|--|------------------------|-------------------------|--|-------------------|-------------|
| | | Concentration (g/L) | Productivity (g/L.h) | Yield (g _{Hsuc} /g _{sugars}) | consumed (g/L) | acids ratio |
| Synthetic medium | 0.561 | 19.0 | 0.459 | 0.399 | 47.5 | 0.458 |
| WPH medium | 0.459 | 19.9 | 0.399 | 0.331 | 60.2 | 0.413 |

Table 8 – Results of the fermentations in bioreactor comparing all the kinetic parameters, related to the Hsuc, and the sugar consumption

In the Table 8 the results relative to both fermentations are compared. Regarding the yield values, the competition for sugar between the Hlac and Hsuc pathways becomes evident. Compared to the literature, where in the worst cases the yield is normally above $0.500 \text{ g}_{Hsuc}/g_{sugars}^{35}$, the attained yield in both experiments was only $0.399 \text{ g}_{Hsuc}/g_{sugars}$ and $0.331 \text{ g}_{Hsuc}/g_{sugars}$, for the synthetic and WPH media respectively. As for the Hsuc productivity, the value obtained in bioreactor was higher than the obtained in the fermentation flasks, due to the higher sugar consumption, but still lower than that described in the literature. Such could be attributed to the production of Hlac or due to the point selected to calculate this parameter. It is important to refer that the way this kinetic parameter is calculated can heavily influence its result. In this case, the final point considered for the Hsuc productivity determination was the first where the sugar concentration was 0 g/L. That point represents the instance where the Hsuc production stops, due to the lack of carbon source, thus being inefficient to prolong the process after that instant. The result regarding the WPH medium (0.399 g/L.h) was lower than the obtained in the synthetic medium, again due to the inhibition caused by the residual phenolic compounds.

Analyzing the μ_{max} in both fermentations the results were 0.561 h⁻¹ and 0.459 h⁻¹, for the synthetic and WPH media respectively. Both results were similar to the ones obtained in the anaerobic shake flasks. That happened because all the conditions besides the pH control were equal in both scales of the fermentation. Therefore, the only difference between them was the duration of the lag phase, fact that cannot influence the result of the μ_{max} . Additionally, the μ_{max} obtained in both media was within the range of those described by Brink and Nicol (2014). Ultimately, it was possible to assert that the WPH medium has an inhibitory effect in the *A. succinogenes* growth and consequently in how quickly the bacterium can produce Hsuc.

Comparing both fermentations, the points where the Hlac production started, they were coincident with the points where the maximum biomass concentrations were achieved. Such can lead to the hypothesis that certainly at those corresponding times the organic nitrogen was depleted, with still significant sugars concentrations. This fact may have promoted the cease of cell growth with associated Hsuc production and instead the beginning of Hlac production, besides the oxygen contact. However, it is necessary to make more experiments, where different concentrations of organic nitrogen are compared, to confirm this hypothesis, since there is no data reported in the literature.

In the studied fermentations there was no visible difference between the supplementation of inorganic carbon through CO_2 sparging and through the use of NaHCO₃, in the anaerobic shake flask fermentations.

5

Evaluation of succinic acid production in kraft wood pulp hydrolysate using different strategies

In order to optimize the conditions used to produce Hsuc by *A. succinogenes*, two different strategies were employed: the first was to add different concentrations of MgCO₃, in order to improve the Hsuc production pathway of the *A. succinogenes* and the second was a fed batch operation, to test if a higher overall sugar quantity and the longer fermentation time could potentiate the Hsuc production.

5.1 Effect of magnesium carbonate in the WPH medium

According to the literature carbonated salts, such as MgCO₃, can have a major impact in the Hsuc production^{35,78}. This variable was assessed by conducting fermentations in WPH with different concentrations of MgCO₃. It was initially expected that the MgCO₃ contributed as an additional inorganic carbon source, thus promoting the Hsuc production.

In the fermentation with 10 g/L of MgCO₃ (Figure 18), it was verified that the production of organic acids started earlier than in the previous experiments. Additionally, the Hsuc concentration was higher compared to the experiment without MgCO₃ achieving a final value of 23.2 g/L. In contrast the biomass decreased when compared to the fermentation without MgCO₃. However, the biomass could not be accurately estimated due to turbidity caused by the MgCO₃, which increased the OD measurements⁸⁴. Moreover, the organic acids released by the *A. succinogenes* throughout the fermentation, reacted with the MgCO₃, thus decreasing the OD during the fermentation time. These fluctuations in the measured OD led estimation errors in the biomass. Therefore, it was considered the 2.6 g/L as the value for the final biomass concentration, due to its proximity to the value estimated through the cell dry weight. The concentrations of Hlac (15.9 g/L), Hfor (9.0 g/L) and Hace (12.4 g/L) showed an increase relative to the experiment without MgCO₃.



Figure 18 - Evolution of the sugars, organic acids and biomass in the bioreactor fermentation with the addition of 10 g/L of MgCO₃, pH 6.7 and CO₂ sparging.

In the experiment with 20 g/L of MgCO₃ (Figure 19) samples were diluted with HCl, to mitigate the OD errors caused by the carbonated salt. With this strategy it was possible to estimate more accurately the biomass concentration. The results obtained were similar to the fermentation without any addition of MgCO₃, attaining a maximum biomass concentration of around 3g/L. However, this value decayed over time, as commonly shown in the literature after adding carbonated salts. Although the reason of why such happened is not evidenced, it is possible to assume, based on results of the fermentation with 10 g/L of MgCO₃, that the salt contributed more for the production of organic acids than for the production and maintenance of biomass. Accordingly, the biomass yield was lower when compared to the fermentation in WPH, without MgCO₃. Hsuc concentration obtained was 23.2 g/L, similar to the result achieved by the fermentation carried out with 10 g/L of MgCO₃. Nonetheless, it was again verified an increase of other organic acids production. This fact indicates that increasing the concentration of MgCO₃ may not lead to an increase on the Hsuc production.



Figure 19 - Evolution of the sugars, organic acids and biomass in the bioreactor fermentation with the addition of 20 g/L of MgCO₃, pH 6.7 and CO₂ sparging.

In Table 9 a comparison is made between different concentrations of MgCO₃ used in the WPH medium. Regarding the μ_{max} the results obtained were 0.307 h⁻¹ or 0.455 g/L.h, with 10 g/L or 20 g/L of MgCO₃ respectively. The lower value obtained with 10 g/L of MgCO₃ was associated with the turbidity caused by the salt, which led to errors in the μ_{max} determination. Nonetheless the value of μ_{max} obtained with 20 g/L MgCO₃ was almost identical to the obtained in the fermentation without MgCO₃. Such was not expected, due to some studies reporting a decrease in the bacterium growth, in contrast to the increased production of organic acids, when carbonated salts are added¹⁴³. In all of these fermentations the Hlac production was again consistent with the cease of biomass production, thus suggesting that a depletion on organic nitrogen can favor the formation of this byproduct.

| | | Biomass yield (g _{biomass} /g _{sugars}) | | Hsuc | Sugars | | |
|----------------------------|--|---|------------------------|-------------------------|---|-------------------|-----------------------------|
| MgCO ₃ (g/L) | μ _{max} (h ⁻¹) | | concentration (g/L) | Productivity (g/L.h) | Yield (g _{Hsuc} /g _{sugars}) | consumed (g/L) | Hsuc/organic acids ratio |
| 0.0 | 0.459 | 0.180 | 19.9 | 0.399 | 0.331 | 0.413 | 0.413 |
| 10.0 | 0.307 | 0.126 | 23.2 | 0.459 | 0.377 | 61.6 | 0.384 |
| 20.0 | 0.455 | 0.123 | 23.2 | 0.497 | 0.370 | 62.7 | 0.354 |

Table 9 - Results of the fermentations with different concentrations of MgCO₃, comparing all the kinetic parameters, related to the Hsuc, biomass yield and the sugar consumption

Regarding the productivity, it was observed an improvement associated with increase of the MgCO₃ concentration. These improvements were expected since comparable results were described for other substrates after the addition of MgCO₃. Moreover, both the Mg²⁺ and the CO₃²⁻ can positively influence the *A. succinogenes* metabolism. The yield was also higher when comparing 10 g/L and 20 g/L of MgCO₃ to the absence of this salt. Despite this result obtained in both fermentations with MgCO₃ addition it was verified a higher concentration of byproducts associated with a decrease in the biomass, as it was suggested by the literature¹³⁹.

Concerning these results with different concentrations of MgCO₃, it is important to understand how the carbonated salt interfere with the *A. succinogenes* metabolism, thus producing higher concentrations of Hsuc as well as the other byproducts. According to the literature, it is possible to see that the use of a carbonated salt is normally associated with the release of CO_2 which will be used as co-substrate by the PEPCK. However, there are few studies where the influence of the metal ion associated with the carbonated salt is considered. This factor, however, can have a significant impact in the *A. succinogenes* enzymes since some metal ions can enhance or reduce their specific activities. Moreover, there are studies which show the Mg^{2+} is a cofactor for the pyruvate kinase (PK) and the pyruvate dehydrogenase (PDH)¹⁴⁴. These enzymes are responsible for catalyzing the transformation of PEP into pyruvate and catalyzing the transformation of pyruvate into ACoA, respectively. This implies that Mg^{2+} can promote the metabolic pathways, which will compete with the production of Hsuc. Consequently, it can be the key factor causing the decrease of Hsuc/organic acids ratio when higher amounts of MgCO₃ were added into the fermentations. Regardless this information, the effect of the CO₂ released from the MgCO₃ or any other carbonated salts cannot be completely neglected, since it was demonstrated that a higher concentration of CO₂ can indeed enhance the Hsuc production¹³⁹.

Further comparison of the MgCO₃ to other carbonated salts described in the literature, show that the metal ion plays a significant role in enzyme regulation. Therefore, an experiment using different concentrations of MgCl₂, could show how this specific metal ion would influence the fermentation, without having the interference of the CO₂ associated with the carbonate. It could also be useful to promote a similar test using a salt containing Mn^{2+} , since it is a known cofactor for the enzyme PEPCK¹⁴⁵. This could allow activating the metabolic pathway responsible for the production of Hsuc.

5.2 Fed-batch fermentation in WPH medium

A fed-batch strategy was employed in order to achieve a higher concentration of Hsuc. Based on results obtained with different concentrations of MgCO₃, it was chosen to avoid its usage in this experiment. All the kinetic parameters were calculated for each feeding pulse and for the whole process (Table 10)

| | Hsuc | | | Hlac | | | Consumed |
|---------------|---------------|--------------|-------------------------|---------------|--------------|-------------------------|----------|
| Pulses | Concentration | Productivity | Yield | Concentration | Productivity | Yield | sugars |
| | (g/L) | (g/L.h) | (g_{Hsuc}/g_{sugars}) | (g/L) | (g/L.h) | (g_{Hlac}/g_{sugars}) | (g/L) |
| 0 | 22.7 | 0.652 | 0.392 | 20.3 | 0.583 | 0.352 | 57.7 |
| 1 | 4.4 | 0.180 | 0.170 | 35.7 | 1.471 | 1.388 | 27.0 |
| 2 | 2.2 | 0.070 | 0.108 | 32.6 | 1.032 | 1.589 | 20.5 |
| Whole process | 29.3 | 0.317 | 0.276 | 88.6 | 0.968 | 0.84 | 105.2 |

Table 10 - Fed-batch results in each pulse of operation with in WPH medium, presenting all the kinetic parameters, related to the Hsuc and the Hlac, and the sugar consumption

The fed-batch successfully increased the overall organic acid production. Additionally, the final biomass concentration past beyond the 5 g/L (Figure 20), due to the higher overall quantity of substrate used in this assay. In the first stages of the fermentation, prior to any feeding pulse, the biomass evolution was similar to the observed in WPH batch made in a previous fermentation, achieving a concentration close to 4 g/L. After the first feeding pulse it was observed an increase in the production of Hlac contrasting to the production of Hsuc, Hace and Hfor being stalled and, consequently, their concentrations remaining relatively constant throughout the fermentation. Because this event could be interpreted as a contamination, a sample from the end of the fermentation was inoculated in two distinct petri dishes with solid medium namely TSB, suitable for the growth of *A. succinogenes*, and MRS, for its inhibition, while promoting the growth of common

contaminant bacteria (Lactobacillus) described in the literature. The presence of bacterial colonies in TSB and absence on MRS, respectively, showed that the production of Hlac was not caused by any contamination.

A study conducted aiming to evaluate *A. succinogenes* metabolic fluxes and enzymatic activities under different aeration strategies, has shown a relative decrease in the expression of the main genes contributing to the Hsuc production pathway. Such happens when the *A. succinogenes* is exposed to O₂, which repress the expression of the gene responsible to produce the PEPCK¹³⁸. Moreover, this exposure induces the expression of other genes capable of promoting the production of Hlac. This led to the common described conclusion which indicates that enzymes, such as the LDH and the PK, suffer an increase on their activity, due to their higher concentration. In the case of this fed-batch fermentation, it is possible that the Hlac production was induced by O₂ contact in the stock culture. This metabolic shift was eventually improved throughout the fermentation. Additionally, a northern blot technic could be carried out to determine the expression of the key genes of the *A. succinogenes*, to further understanding this Hlac production.

It should be also mentioned that in this experiment, the addition of organic nitrogen together with the feeding solution was unable to change the metabolic pathways to the Hsuc production.



Figure 20 - Time course of the Fed-batch fermentation in WPH medium. The vertical bars represent the feeding pulses. The concentrations of sugars and organic acids were calculated considering their respective masses and assuming a constant initial volume.

In this fermentation it was not possible to accurately determine the maximum specific growth rate due to insufficient points in the exponential phase. The Hsuc yield obtained was calculated for each feeding pulse and for the whole process (Table 10). Prior to the feeding pulses the results were consistent with the batch fermentation without MgCO₃. It was also obtained a Hsuc yield of 0.392 g_{Hsuc}/g_{sugars} with a productivity of 0.652 g/L.h. After the first pulse those values decreased to 0.123 g_{Hsuc}/g_{sugars} and 0.180 g/L.h, dropping further on the subsequent pulse. Certainly, this drop is attributed to the increasing expression of the genes responsible for the metabolic pathway, opposed to the Hsuc production namely the one producing Hlac. In the final pulse the Hsuc production was almost nonexistent, achieving a final total Hsuc concentration of 29.3 g/L. As consequence of the Hlac production, the total yield and productivity of Hsuc were 0.276 g_{Hsuc}/g_{sugars} and 0.317 g/L.h, respectively. These were lower than the values obtained in all batch fermentations and those reported in the literature. Thus, showing the inefficiency of producing Hsuc in fed-batch when the

production of Hlac is verified. It can be possible that a small activation of the gene responsible for the expression of LDH could have changed the *A. succinogenes* metabolism, leading to the increasing Hlac production.

Since the Hlac can also be a valuable bioproduct, it was important to evaluate the kinetic parameters associated with its production. Prior to any pulse, both the Hlac productivity and yield were below those already presented in the literature. However, after the first pulse it was verified an increase in such parameters, obtaining a yield of 1.388 g_{Hlac}/g_{sugars} and a productivity of 1.008 g/L.h. After the last pulse, the yield was increased to 1.589 g_{Hlac}/g_{sugars} , due to the drastic reduction on the production of other organic acids. Attending to the overall results, it is possible to see that the Hlac yield was lower than the obtained by Li et al. (2010). However, both productivities were similar. The proximity between the yields in both studies, might suggest that the WPH could be a suitable substrate to promote the Hlac production, using the same strategy as Li et al. (2010). In addition, the presence of MgCO₃ in the WPH can be benefic for Hlac production.

Despite the higher production of Hlac compared to Hsuc, the results obtained with the *A. succinogenes* suggest that this MO can compete with Hlac producing bacteria. However, it should be considered that some of these bacteria are homolactic, and consequently produce exclusively Hlac, thus requiring less downstream processing. Nonetheless, since the concentration of Hsuc was close to the produced in the batch processes, it is possible to explore the simultaneous production of both the Hlac and Hsuc using a fed-batch strategy.

6

Conclusions

In this work, it was established the ability of the bacterium A. succinogenes to produce succinic acid (Hsuc), from Eucalyptus globulus wood pulp originated from the kraft pulping process and hydrolyzed afterwards. Small scale experiments in anaerobic shake flaks showed the consumption of pentoses besides hexoses for the production of high concentrations of organic acids, being the Hsuc the predominant one. These concentrations consequently decreased the pH values, which led to an early fermentation stop, thus leaving unconsumed sugars in the fermentation medium. In terms of biomass, the synthetic medium results were higher than the obtained with WPH, both in succinic acid concentration and productivity as well as in specific growth rate. This was expected due to the presence of any inhibitors coming from lignin, such as residual phenolic compounds, which were evidenced by the LEX-SEC chromatography. The yield however was unexpectedly higher in the WPH. The explanation for that was obtained again through the LEX-SEC chromatography where the results showed the presence of dimers which were not detected by HPLC. However, they could be used as carbon source by A. succinoges for producing organic acids. It must be also accounted the significant production of Hlac verified in the WPH fermentation, which certainly was due to changes in the A. succinogenes metabolism linked to an oxygen exposure.

In the fermentations made in bioreactor, the effects made by the WPH in the *A*. *succinogenes* metabolism became evident. The pH control allowed the complete sugar consumption by the *A*. *succinogenes* and due to the presence of phenolic compounds all kinetic parameters decreased, while byproducts formation occurred due to the Mg^{2+} abundance in the WPH. Certainly, there was interaction of Mg^{2+} with the enzymes that favor other organic acids biosynthesis, which compete with the succinic acid production pathway. The production of high Hlac was verified, contrary to what is commonly reported in the

literature. Such happen due to a possible interaction of the culture with the oxygen, being possibly enhanced afterwards by the organic nitrogen depletion.

To evaluate if the kinetic parameters could be somehow improved, by different concentrations of MgCO₃ were evaluated. It was confirmed that this salt enhanced all kinetic parameters except the specific growth rate. In the literature, the carbonate present on the MgCO₃ is pointed as the principal factor, due to its interaction with the PEPCK. However, the MgCO₃ also led to the production of more byproducts. Such result can also support the previous theory, about the magnesium ion present in the wood, having a major influence in the byproducts production. It is already known that this metal ion is an important cofactor for the pyruvate kinase, thus explaining the higher byproducts concentration obtained. Furthermore, the use of cofactors of the Hsuc production pathway, could improve the overall production of this organic acid, hence manganese should be studied.

Finally, due to the shift in the *A. succinogenes* metabolism that led to the production of Hlac, the fed-batch fermentation was not suitable for producing Hsuc exclusively. Nonetheless, before the first feeding pulse, the concentration of Hsuc was similar to the attained in batch. However, after the feeding pulses it was only observed the production of Hlac. This can lead to the conclusion that this fed-batch could be suitable for producing both organic acids.

Despite the production of Hlac, the objective of this work was successfully accomplished since WPH is a suitable feedstock to produce Hsuc using *A. succinogenes*. This study served as a reference for future bioprocess studies fed with wood residues, in order to their integration into a pulp and paper biorefinery working according to the Circular Economy model. Moreover, this process has the particularity of consuming CO_2 , allowing to simultaneously decrease the emissions. It could be also possible to exploit the use of MgCO₃ and fed-batch operations to improve the production of both Hsuc and Hlac.

Future work

Due to the production of Hlac, the main focus of future work should be to find specific process conditions of *A. succinogenes* to direct the carbon flux to Hsuc pathway in order to guarantee the production of Hsuc, without needing genetic manipulation. This objective was never attempted, but some strategies may allow this performance. Different studies could be carried out as the use of LDH inhibitors, such as copper ions, the use of manganese ions to promote de activity of the PEPCK and the use of small concentrations of benzoic acid, which some authors described as an inhibitor for the expression of the gene responsible for the LDH production. Also, the importance of the concentration of nitrogen and a reductive substrate should be tested in order to enhance the Hsuc production.

With *A. succinegenes* producing high concentrations of Hsuc, the next step should be the use of WPH originated from bark pulps of the *E. globulus*. The process conditions shall be optimized in a bioreactor with pH control and constant CO_2 sparging. Fed-batch and continuous operations could also be assessed to ensure the highest productivities and concentrations of Hsuc. If possible, technics such as genetic engineering and *in silico* simulations could be useful to improve the Hsuc bioprocess.

8

References

Wauquier, J.-P. *Petroleum refining: crude oil. Petroleum products. Process flowsheets*;
 Smith, D. H., Ed.; 1st ed.; Editions TECNIP: Paris, 1994; Vol. 1.

2. de Jong, E.; Jungmeier, G. Biorefinery Concepts in Comparison to Petrochemical Refineries. In *Industrial Biorefineries & White Biotechnology*; Elsevier, 2015; pp. 3–33.

3. Höök, M.; Tang, X. Depletion of fossil fuels and anthropogenic climate change-A review. *Energy Policy* **2013**, *52*, 797–809.

4. BP BP Statistical Review of World Energy; 2018.

5. Bai, Y.; Okullo, S. J. Understanding oil scarcity through drilling activity. *Energy Econ.* **2018**, *69*, 261–269.

6. Delhomme, C.; Weuster-Botz, D.; Kühn, F. E. Succinic acid from renewable resources as a C4building-block chemical - A review of the catalytic possibilities in aqueous media. *Green Chem.* **2009**, *11*, 13–26.

7. Du, C.; Lin, S. K. C.; Koutinas, A.; Wang, R.; Webb, C. Succinic acid production from wheat using a biorefining strategy. *Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol.* **2007**, *76*, 1263–1270.

8. Bechthold, I.; Bretz, K.; Kabasci, S.; Kopitzky, R.; Springer, A. Succinic Acid: A New Platform Chemical for Biobased Polymers from Renewable Resources. *Chem. Eng. Technol.* **2008**, *31*, 647–654.

9. Nelson, D. L.; Cox, M. M. *Lehninger: Principles of Biohemistry*; 7th ed.; Freeman, W. H. & Company, 2017.

10. Renouf, M. A.; Wegener, M. K.; Nielsen, L. K. An environmental life cycle assessment comparing Australian sugarcane with US corn and UK sugar beet as producers of sugars for fermentation. *Biomass and Bioenergy* **2008**, *32*, 1144–1155.

11. FAO Food prices remain high despite higher output

<http://www.fao.org/resilience/news-

events/detail/en/c/147918/?fbclid=IwAR3HOyGIj44pg-

xLJb4MWjasOSTTxrBPMuGJBfNEr5kFF8ITWJjmJfDrwK0> (accessed Nov 14, 2018).

12. Macrotrends Corn Prices - 45 Year Historical Chart

https://www.macrotrends.net/2532/corn-prices-historical-chart-data (accessed Nov 15, 2018).

13. Akhtar, J.; Idris, A.; Abd. Aziz, R. Recent advances in production of succinic acid from lignocellulosic biomass. *Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol.* **2014**, *98*, 987–1000.

14. Sjöström, E. *Wood chemistry, fundamentals and applications*; 2nd ed.; Academic Press INC.: San Diego, 1992.

15. Sánchez-Romero, C.; Guillén, R.; Heredia, A.; Jiménez, A.; Fernández-Bolaños, J. Degradation of hemicellulosic and cellulosic polysaccharides in pickled green olives. *J. Food Prot.* **1998**, *61*, 87–93.

16. Haghighi Mood, S.; Hossein Golfeshan, A.; Tabatabaei, M.; Salehi Jouzani, G.; Najafi, G. H.; Gholami, M.; Ardjmand, M. Lignocellulosic biomass to bioethanol, a comprehensive review with a focus on pretreatment. *Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev.* 2013, 27, 77–93.

17. Alves, C. A. A. Estudo do comportamento fermentativo de *Actinobacillus succinogenes* para a produção de ácido succínico e ácido lático, University of Aveiro, 2015.

18. Ek, M.; Gellerstedt, G.; Henriksson, G. *Wood Chemistry and Wood Biotechnology*; Berlin, 2009; Vol. 1.

19. Chen, H. Lignocellulose biorefinery engineering; 1st ed.; Elsevier: Cambridge, 2015.

20. Dong, X.; Dong, M.; Lu, Y.; Turley, A.; Jin, T.; Wu, C. Antimicrobial and antioxidant activities of lignin from residue of corn stover to ethanol production. *Ind. Crops Prod.*2011, *34*, 1629–1634.

21. Salvachúa, D.; Smith, H.; St. John, P. C.; Mohagheghi, A.; Peterson, D. J.; Black, B.

A.; Dowe, N.; Beckham, G. T. Succinic acid production from lignocellulosic hydrolysate by *Basfia succiniciproducens*. *Bioresour*. *Technol*. **2016**, *214*, 558–566.

22. Mladenov, M.; Pelovski, Y. Utilization of Wastes From Pulp and Paper Industry. *J. Univ. Chem. Technol. Metall.* **2010**, *45*, 33–38.

23. The Navigator Company Relatório de sustentabilidade 2014/2015; 2015.

24. Branco, R.; Serafim, L.; Xavier, A. Second Generation Bioethanol Production: On the Use of Pulp and Paper Industry Wastes as Feedstock. *Fermentation* **2018**, *5*, 4–33.

25. Biermann, C. J. *Handbook of pulping and papermaking*; 2nd ed.; Elsevier: San Diego, 1996.

26. Ek, M.; Gellerstedt, G.; Henriksson, G. *Pulp and Paper Chemistry and Technology*; 1st ed.; De Gruyter: Berlin, 2009; Vol. 2.

27. Hendry, I. F.; Hanssens, W. J. H. *Pulp, Paper and Board*; 1st ed.; Springer Netherlands: Dordrecht, 1987.

 Saeman, J. F. Kinetics of Wood Saccharification - Hydrolysis of Cellulose and Decomposition of Sugars in Dilute Acid at High Temperature. *Ind. Eng. Chem.* 1945, *37*, 43–52.

29. Sun, Y.; Cheng, J. Hydrolysis of lignocellulosic materials for ethanol production: a review. *Bioresour. Technol.* **2002**, *83*, 1–11.

30. Karimi, K.; Taherzadeh, M. J. Enzyme Based Hydrolysis Processes for Ethanol From Lignocellulosic Materials: a Review. *BioResources* **2007**, *2*, 707–738.

31. McKinlay, J. B.; Vieille, C.; Zeikus, J. G. Prospects for a bio-based succinate industry. *Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol.* **2007**, *76*, 727–740.

32. Narancic, T.; Verstichel, S.; Reddy Chaganti, S.; Morales-Gamez, L.; Kenny, S. T.; De Wilde, B.; Babu Padamati, R.; O'Connor, K. E. Biodegradable Plastic Blends Create New Possibilities for End-of-Life Management of Plastics but They Are Not a Panacea for Plastic Pollution. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2018**, *52*, 10441–10452.

33. Saxena, R. K.; Saran, S.; Isar, J.; Kaushik, R. Production and Applications of Succinic Acid. In *Current Developments in Biotechnology and Bioengineering*; Elsevier, 2017; pp.

601–632.

34. Zeikus, J. G.; Jain, M. K.; Elankovan, P. Biotechnology of succinic acid production and markets for derived industrial products. *Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol.* **1999**, *51*, 545–552.

35. Pateraki, C.; Patsalou, M.; Vlysidis, A.; Kopsahelis, N.; Webb, C.; Koutinas, A. A.; Koutinas, M. *Actinobacillus succinogenes*: Advances on succinic acid production and prospects for development of integrated biorefineries. *Biochem. Eng. J.* **2016**, *112*, 285–303.

36. Pinazo, J. M.; Domine, M. E.; Parvulescu, V.; Petru, F. Sustainability metrics for succinic acid production: A comparison between biomass-based and petrochemical routes. *Catal. Today* **2015**, *239*, 17–24.

37. McKinlay, J. B.; Shachar-Hill, Y.; Zeikus, J. G.; Vieille, C. Determining *Actinobacillus succinogenes* metabolic pathways and fluxes by NMR and GC-MS analyses of ¹³C-labeled metabolic product isotopomers. *Metab. Eng.* **2007**, *9*, 177–192.

38. Stalikas, C. D. Extraction, separation, and detection methods for phenolic acids and flavonoids. *J. Sep. Sci.* **2007**, *30*, 3268–3295.

39. Demirbas, A. *Biorefineries for biomass upgrading facilities*; Green Energy and Technology; second.; Springer London: London, 2010.

40. Bradfield, M. F. A.; Mohagheghi, A.; Salvachúa, D.; Smith, H.; Black, B. A.; Dowe, N.; Beckham, G. T.; Nicol, W. Continuous succinic acid production by *Actinobacillus succinogenes* on xylose-enriched hydrolysate. *Biotechnol. Biofuels* **2015**, *8*, 1–17.

41. Lenihan, P.; Orozco, A.; O'Neill, E.; Ahmad, M. N. M.; Rooney, D. W.; Walker, G. M. Dilute acid hydrolysis of lignocellulosic biomass. *Chem. Eng. J.* **2010**, *156*, 395–403.

42. Ghose, T. K.; Bisaria, V. S. Studies on the mechanism of enzymatic hydrolysis of cellulosic substances. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.* **1979**, *21*, 131–146.

43. NCBI PubChem Compound Database

<https://pubchem.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/compound/succinic_acid#section=Top> (accessed Nov 25, 2018).

44. Sánchez, A. M.; Bennett, G. N.; San, K. Y. Efficient succinic acid production from glucose through overexpression of pyruvate carboxylase in an *Escherichia coli* alcohol dehydrogenase and lactate dehydrogenase mutant. *Biotechnol. Prog.* **2005**, *21*, 358–365.

45. Schindler, B. D.; Joshi, R. V.; Vieille, C. Respiratory glycerol metabolism of *Actinobacillus succinogenes* 130Z for succinate production. *J. Ind. Microbiol. Biotechnol.*2014, 41, 1339–1352.

46. Choi, S.; Song, C. W.; Shin, J. H.; Lee, S. Y. Biorefineries for the production of top building block chemicals and their derivatives. *Metab. Eng.* **2015**, *28*, 223–239.

47. Vlysidis, A.; Binns, M.; Webb, C.; Theodoropoulos, C. Glycerol utilisation for the production of chemicals: Conversion to succinic acid, a combined experimental and computational study. *Biochem. Eng. J.* **2011**, *58–59*, 1–11.

48. Becker, J.; Lange, A.; Fabarius, J.; Wittmann, C. Top value platform chemicals: Biobased production of organic acids. *Curr. Opin. Biotechnol.* **2015**, *36*, 168–175.

49. Beauprez, J. J.; De Mey, M.; Soetaert, W. K. Microbial succinic acid production: Natural versus metabolic engineered producers. *Process Biochem.* **2010**, *45*, 1103–1114.

50. Podleśny, M.; Jarocki, P.; Wyrostek, J.; Czernecki, T.; Kucharska, J.; Nowak, A.; Targoński, Z. *Enterobacter* sp. LU1 as a novel succinic acid producer – co-utilization of glycerol and lactose. *Microb. Biotechnol.* **2017**, *10*, 492–501.

51. Jansen, M. L. A.; van Gulik, W. M. Towards large scale fermentative production of succinic acid. *Curr. Opin. Biotechnol.* **2014**, *30*, 190–197.

52. Harun, R.; Singh, M.; Forde, G. M.; Danquah, M. K. Bioprocess engineering of microalgae to produce a variety of consumer products. *Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev.* **2010**, *14*, 1037–1047.

53. McCoy, M. Succinic acid, once a biobased chemical star, is barely being made https://cen.acs.org/content/cen/articles/97/i12/Succinic-acid-once-biobased-chemical.html (accessed Aug 16, 2019).

54. Martinez-Salgado, M M; Gutierrez-Romero, V; Jannsens, M; Ortega-Blu, R. Biological soil quality indicators: a review. *Curr. Res. Technol. Educ. Top. Appl. Microbiol. Microb.*

Biotechnol. 2010, 319–328.

55. Lange, A.; Becker, J.; Schulze, D.; Cahoreau, E.; Portais, J. C.; Haefner, S.; Schröder, H.; Krawczyk, J.; Zelder, O.; Wittmann, C. Bio-based succinate from sucrose: High-resolution ¹³C metabolic flux analysis and metabolic engineering of the rumen bacterium *Basfia succiniciproducens. Metab. Eng.* **2017**, *44*, 198–212.

56. Song, H.; Lee, S. Y. Production of succinic acid by bacterial fermentation. *Enzyme Microb. Technol.* **2006**, *39*, 352–361.

57. McKinlay, J. B.; Zeikus, J. G.; Vieille, C. Insights into *Actinobacillus succinogenes* Fermentative Metabolism in a Chemically Defined Growth Medium. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* **2005**, *71*, 6651–6656.

58. Guettler, M. V.; Jain, M. K.; Soni, B. K. US Patent 5723322: Process for making succinic acid, microorganisms for use in the process and methods of obtaining the microorganisms, 1998.

59. Ferone, M.; Raganati, F.; Olivieri, G.; Salatino, P.; Marzocchella, A. Continuous Succinic Acid Fermentation by Actinobacillus succinogenes: Assessment of Growth and Succinic Acid Production Kinetics. *Appl. Biochem. Biotechnol.* **2019**, *187*, 782–799.

60. Alexandri, M.; Papapostolou, H.; Stragier, L.; Verstraete, W.; Papanikolaou, S.; Koutinas, A. A. Succinic acid production by immobilized cultures using spent sulphite liquor as fermentation medium. *Bioresour. Technol.* **2017**, *238*, 214–222.

61. Pateraki, C.; Ladakis, D.; Stragier, L.; Verstraete, W.; Kookos, I.; Papanikolaou, S.; Koutinas, A. Pretreatment of spent sulphite liquor via ultrafiltration and nanofiltration for bio-based succinic acid production. *J. Biotechnol.* **2016**, *233*, 95–105.

62. Wan, C.; Li, Y.; Shahbazi, A.; Xiu, S. Succinic acid production from cheese whey using Actinobacillus succinogenes 130 Z. *Appl. Biochem. Biotechnol.* **2008**, *145*, 111–119.

63. Chen, K.; Zhang, H.; Miao, Y.; Jiang, M.; Chen, J. Succinic acid production from enzymatic hydrolysate of sake lees using *Actinobacillus succinogenes* 130Z. *Enzyme Microb. Technol.* **2010**, *47*, 236–240.

64. Liu, Y.-P.; Zheng, P.; Sun, Z.-H.; Ni, Y.; Dong, J.-J.; Wei, P. Strategies of pH control

and glucose-fed batch fermentation for production of succinic acid byActinobacillus succinogenes CGMCC1593. J. Chem. Technol. Biotechnol. 2008, 83, 722–729.

65. Liu, Y.-P.; Zheng, P.; Sun, Z.-H.; Ni, Y.; Dong, J.-J.; Zhu, L.-L. Economical succinic acid production from cane molasses by *Actinobacillus succinogenes*. *Bioresour*. *Technol*. **2008**, *99*, 1736–1742.

66. Scholten, E.; Renz, T.; Thomas, J. Continuous cultivation approach for fermentative succinic acid production from crude glycerol by *Basfia succiniciproducens* DD1. *Biotechnol. Lett.* **2009**, *31*, 1947–1951.

67. Alexandri, M.; Papapostolou, H.; Komaitis, M.; Stragier, L.; Verstraete, W.; Danezis, G. P.; Georgiou, C. A.; Papanikolaou, S.; Koutinas, A. A. Evaluation of an integrated biorefinery based on fractionation of spent sulphite liquor for the production of an antioxidant-rich extract, lignosulphonates and succinic acid. *Bioresour. Technol.* **2016**, *214*, 504–513.

68. Cimini, D.; Argenzio, O.; D'Ambrosio, S.; Lama, L.; Finore, I.; Finamore, R.; Pepe,
O.; Faraco, C.; Schiraldi, C. Production of succinic acid from *Basfia succiniciproducens* up to the pilot scale from *Arundo donax* hydrolysate. *Bioresour. Technol.* 2016, 222, 355–360.

69. Lee, P. C.; Lee, W. G.; Lee, S. Y.; Chang, H. N. Effects of medium components on the growth of *Anaerobiospirillum succiniciproducens* and succinic acid production. *Process Biochem.* **1999**, *35*, 49–55.

70. Nghiem, N. P.; Davison, B. H.; Suttle, B. E.; Richardson, G. R. Production of succinic acid by anaerobiospirillum succiniciproducens. *Appl. Biochem. Biotechnol.* **1997**, *63*, 565–576.

71. Datta, R.; Glassner, D. A.; Jain, M. K.; Roy, J. R. V. US Patent 5168055: Fermentation and purification process for succinic acid, 1992.

72. Lee, P. C.; Lee, S. Y.; Hong, S. H.; Chang, H. N.; Park, S. C. Biological conversion of wood hydrolysate to succinic acid by *Anaerobiospirillum succiniciproducens*. *Biotechnol*. *Lett.* **2003**, *25*, 111–114.

73. Samuelov; Datta; Jain; Zeikus Whey fermentation by *Anaerobiospirillum succiniciproducens* for production of a succinate-based animal feed additive. *Appl.*

Environ. Microbiol. 1999, 65, 2260–2263.

74. Lee, S. Lee, S. Hong, H. Chang, P. Isolation and characterization of a new succinic acid-producing bacterium, *Mannheimia succiniciproducens* MBEL55E, from bovine rumen. *Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol.* **2002**, *58*, 663–668.

75. Lee, P. C.; Lee, S. Y.; Hong, S. H.; Chang, H. N. Batch and continuous cultures of *Mannheimia succiniciproducens* MBEL55E for the production of succinic acid from whey and corn steep liquor. *Bioprocess Biosyst. Eng.* **2003**, *26*, 63–67.

76. Okino, S.; Inui, M.; Yukawa, H. Production of organic acids by *Corynebacterium* glutamicum under oxygen deprivation. *Appl Microbiol Biotechnol* **2005**, *68*, 475–480.

77. Guettler, M. V.; Rumler, D.; Jain, M. K. *Actinobacillus succinogenes* sp. nov., a novel succinic-acid-producing strain from the bovine rumen. *Int. J. Syst. Bacteriol.* **1999**, *49*, 207–216.

78. Almqvist, H.; Pateraki, C.; Alexandri, M.; Koutinas, A.; Lidén, G. Succinic acid production by *Actinobacillus succinogenes* from batch fermentation of mixed sugars. *J. Ind. Microbiol. Biotechnol.* **2016**, *43*, 1117–1130.

79. Ladakis, D.; Michailidi, K.; Vlysidis, A.; Koutinas, A.; Kookos, I. K. Valorization of spent sulphite liquor for succinic acid production via continuous fermentation system. *Biochem. Eng. J.* **2018**, *137*, 262–272.

80. Kuhnert, P.; Scholten, E.; Haefner, S.; Mayor, D.; Frey, J. *Basfia succiniciproducens* gen. nov., sp. nov., a new member of the family *Pasteurellaceae* isolated from bovine rumen. *Int. J. Syst. Evol. Microbiol.* **2010**, *60*, 44–50.

81. Jojima, T.; Noburyu, R.; Suda, M.; Okino, S.; Yukawa, H.; Inui, M. Improving Process Yield in Succinic Acid Production by Cell Recycling of Recombinant *Corynebacterium glutamicum*. *Fermentation* **2016**, *2*, 5.

82. Kuhnert, P.; Henrik, C. *Pasteurellaceae: Biology, genomics and molecular aspects*; Caister Academic Press: Norfolk, 2008.

83. Sjaastad, O. V; Hove, K.; Sand, O. *Physiology of Domestic Animals*; 2nd ed.; Scandinavian Veterinary Press: Oslo, 2010.

84. Corona-González, R. I.; Bories, A.; González-Álvarez, V.; Pelayo-Ortiz, C. Kinetic study of succinic acid production by *Actinobacillus succinogenes* ZT-130. *Process Biochem.* **2008**, *43*, 1047–1053.

85. der Werf, M. J. Van; Guettler, M. V; Jain, M. K.; Zeikus, J. G. Environmental and physiological factors affecting the succinate product ratio during carbohydrate fermentation by *Actinobacillus* sp. 130Z. *Arch. Microbiol.* **1997**, *167*, 332–342.

86. Liebal, U. W.; Blank, L. M.; Ebert, B. E. CO₂ to succinic acid – Estimating the potential of biocatalytic routes. *Metab. Eng. Commun.* **2018**, *7*, 1–10.

87. Lin, S. K. C.; Du, C.; Koutinas, A.; Wang, R.; Webb, C. Substrate and product inhibition kinetics in succinic acid production by *Actinobacillus succinogenes*. *Biochem*. *Eng. J.* **2008**, *41*, 128–135.

88. Li, Q.; Wang, D.; Wu, Y.; Yang, M.; Li, W.; Xing, J.; Su, Z. Kinetic evaluation of products inhibition to succinic acid producers *Escherichia coli* NZN111, AFP111, BL21, and *Actinobacillus succinogenes* 130ZT. *J. Microbiol.* **2010**, *48*, 290–296.

89. Ventorino, V.; Robertiello, A.; Cimini, D.; Argenzio, O.; Schiraldi, C.; Montella, S.; Faraco, V.; Ambrosanio, A.; Viscardi, S.; Pepe, O. Bio-Based Succinate Production from *Arundo donax* Hydrolysate with the New Natural Succinic Acid-Producing Strain *Basfia succiniciproducens* BPP7. *Bioenergy Res.* **2017**, *10*, 488–498.

90. Li, Q.; Wang, D.; Song, Z.; Zhou, W.; Wu, Y.; Xing, J.; Su, Z. Dual-phase fermentation enables *Actinobacillus succinogenes* 130ZT to be a potential role for high-level lactate production from the bioresource. *Bioresour. Technol.* **2010**, *101*, 7665–7667.

91. Cannata, J. J. Phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinase from bakers' yeast. Isolation of the enzyme and study of its physical properties. *J. Biol. Chem.* **1970**, *245*, 792–797.

92. Cannata, J. J.; Stoppani, A. O. Phosphopyruvate carboxylase from baker's yeast. II. Properties of enzyme. *J. Biol. Chem.* **1963**, *238*, 1208–1212.

93. Cannata, J. J.; Stoppani, A. O. Phosphopyruvate carboxylase from baker's yeast. I. Isolation, purification, and characterization. *J. Biol. Chem.* **1963**, *238*, 1196–1207.

94. Kanehisa, M. KEGG: Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes. Nucleic Acids Res.

2000, *28*, 27–30.

95. Bradfield, M. F. A.; Nicol, W. Continuous succinic acid production by AActinobacillus succinogenes in a biofilm reactor: Steady-state metabolic flux variation. *Biochem. Eng. J.*2014, 85, 1–7.

96. Xi, Y. L.; Chen, K. Q.; Li, J.; Fang, X. J.; Zheng, X. Y.; Sui, S. S.; Jiang, M.; Wei, P. Optimization of culture conditions in CO₂ fixation for succinic acid production using *Actinobacillus succinogenes*. *J. Ind. Microbiol. Biotechnol.* **2011**, *38*, 1605–1612.

97. Samuelov, N. S.; Lamed, R.; Lowe, S.; Zeikus, I. G. Influence of CO₂-HCO₃ levels and pH on growth, succinate production, and enzyme activities of *Anaerobiospirillum succiniciproducens*. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* **1991**, *57*, 3013–3019.

98. Wang, C.; Li, Q.; Wang, D.; Xing, J. Improving the lactic acid production of *Actinobacillus succinogenes* by using a novel fermentation and separation integration system. *Process Biochem.* **2014**, *49*, 1245–1250.

99. Liu, S. Bioprocess Engineering: Kinetics, Biosystems, Sustainability, and Reactor Design; 2nd ed.; Elsevier: Oxford, 2016.

100. Kent, J. A.; Bommaraju, T. V.; Kent, J. A. *Handbook of Industrial Chemistry and Biotechnology*; 13th ed.; Springer International Publishing: Cham, 2017.

101. Ratledge, C.; Kristiansen, B. *Basic Biotechnology*; 3rd ed.; Cambridge University Press, 2006.

102. van Heerden, C. D.; Nicol, W. Continuous succinic acid fermentation by *Actinobacillus succinogenes*. *Biochem. Eng. J.* **2013**, *73*, 5–11.

103. Chiang, Y.-S.; Kuo, Y.-Y.; Li, S.-Y. A novel method for preparing high purity Actinobacillus succinogenes stock and its long-term acid production in a packed bed reactor. *Bioresour. Technol. Reports* **2018**, *2*, 62–68.

104. Corona-González, R. I.; Miramontes-Murillo, R.; Arriola-Guevara, E.; Guatemala-Morales, G.; Toriz, G.; Pelayo-Ortiz, C. Immobilization of Actinobacillus succinogenes by adhesion or entrapment for the production of succinic acid. *Bioresour. Technol.* **2014**, *164*, 113–118.

105. Brink, H. G.; Nicol, W. Succinic acid production with *Actinobacillus succinogenes*:
Rate and yield analysis of chemostat and biofilm cultures. *Microb. Cell Fact.* 2014, *13*, 1–12.

106. Raab, A. M.; Gebhardt, G.; Bolotina, N.; Weuster-botz, D.; Lang, C. Metabolic engineering of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* for the biotechnological production of succinic acid. *Metab. Eng.* **2010**, *12*, 518–525.

107. Zhang, W.; Zhang, T.; Song, M.; Dai, Z.; Zhang, S.; Xin, F.; Dong, W.; Ma, J.; Jiang,
M. Metabolic Engineering of *Escherichia coli* for High Yield Production of Succinic Acid
Driven by Methanol. *ACS Synth. Biol.* 2018, *7*, 2803–2811.

108. Guettler, M. V.; Jain, M. K.; Rumler, D. US Patent 5573931: Method for making succinic acid, bacterial variants for use in the process, and methods for obtaining variants, 1996.

109. Scholten, E.; Daegele, D.; Haefner, S.; Schroeder, H. European Patent 2505637: Novel microbial succinic acid producer, 2012.

110. Lee, S. J.; Song, H.; Lee, S. Y. Genome-Based Metabolic Engineering of *Mannheimia succiniciproducens* for Succinic Acid Production. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* **2006**, *72*, 1939–1948.

111. Liang, L.; Liu, R.; Ma, J.; Chen, K.; Jiang, M.; Wei, P. Increased production of succinic acid in *Escherichia coli* by overexpression of malate dehydrogenase. *Biotechnol. Lett.* **2011**, *33*, 2439–2444.

112. Lun, K.; Li, C.; Li, X.; Zhang, Y.; Xu, J.; Sze, C.; Lin, K. Co-fermentation of glucose and xylose from sugarcane bagasse into succinic acid by *Yarrowia lipolytica*. *Biochem*. *Eng. J.* **2019**, *148*, 108–115.

113. Ahn, J. H.; Jang, Y. S.; Lee, S. Y. Production of succinic acid by metabolically engineered microorganisms. *Curr. Opin. Biotechnol.* **2016**, *42*, 54–66.

114. Becker, J.; Reinefeld, J.; Stellmacher, R.; Schäfer, R.; Lange, A.; Meyer, H.; Lalk, M.; Zelder, O.; von Abendroth, G.; Schröder, H.; et al. Systems-wide analysis and engineering of metabolic pathway fluxes in bio-succinate producing *Basfia succiniciproducens*. *Biotechnol*. *Bioeng*. **2013**, *110*, 3013–3023.

115. Vemuri, G. N.; Eiteman, M. A.; Altman, E. Effects of Growth Mode and Pyruvate Carboxylase on Succinic Acid Production by Metabolically Engineered Strains of *Escherichia coli. Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* **2002**, *68*, 1715–1727.

116. Cheng, K. K.; Zhao, X. B.; Zeng, J.; Wu, R. C.; Xu, Y. Z.; Liu, D. H.; Zhang, J. A. Downstream processing of biotechnological produced succinic acid. *Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol.* 2012, *95*, 841–850.

117. Bajpai, P. Biorefinery Opportunities in the Pulp and Paper Industry. In *Biorefinery in the Pulp and Paper Industry*; Elsevier, 2013; pp. 11–15.

118. Bajpai, P. *Biotechnology for Pulp and Paper Processing*; 2nd ed.; Springer Singapore: Singapore, 2018.

119. Kim, B. S.; Hong, Y. K.; Hong, W. H. Effect of pH on the extraction characteristics of succinic acid and the stability of colloidal liquid aphrons. *Korean J. Chem. Eng.* **2002**, *19*, 669–672.

120. Lee, S. C.; Kim, H. C. Batch and continuous separation of acetic acid from succinic acid in a feed solution with high concentrations of carboxylic acids by emulsion liquid membranes. *J. Memb. Sci.* **2011**, *367*, 190–196.

121. Alexandri, M.; Vlysidis, A.; Papapostolou, H.; Tverezovskaya, O.; Tverezovskiy, V.; Kookos, I. K.; Koutinas, A. Downstream separation and purification of succinic acid from fermentation broths using spent sulphite liquor as feedstock. *Sep. Purif. Technol.* **2019**, *209*, 666–675.

122. Henczka, M.; Djas, M. Reactive extraction of succinic acid using supercritical carbon dioxide. *Sep. Sci. Technol.* **2018**, *53*, 655–661.

123. Lee, S. C.; Hyun, K. S. Development of an emulsion liquid membrane system for separation of acetic acid from succinic acid. *J. Memb. Sci.* **2010**, *350*, 333–339.

124. Jun, Y. S.; Huh, Y. S.; Park, H. S.; Thomas, A.; Jeon, S. J.; Lee, E. Z.; Won, H. J.; Hong, W. H.; Lee, S. Y.; Hong, Y. K. Adsorption of pyruvic and succinic acid by aminefunctionalized SBA-15 for the purification of succinic acid from fermentation broth. *J. Phys. Chem. C* **2007**, *111*, 13076–13086. 125. Björkegren, S.; Karimi, R. F.; Martinelli, A.; Jayakumar, N. S.; Hashim, M. A. A new emulsion liquid membrane based on a palm oil for the extraction of heavy metals. *Membranes (Basel).* **2015**, *5*, 168–179.

126. Jusoh, N.; Othman, N.; Nasruddin, N. A. Emulsion Liquid Membrane Technology in Organic Acid Purification. *Malaysian J. Anal. Sci.* **2016**, *20*, 436–443.

127. Jusoh, N.; Noah, N. F. M.; Othman, N. Extraction and recovery optimization of succinic acid using green emulsion liquid membrane containing palm oil as the diluent. *Environ. Prog. Sustain. Energy* **2018**, *80*, 1–9.

128. Ponnampalam, E. US Patent 6284904: Purification of organic acids using anion exchange chromatography, 1999.

129. Kurzrock, T.; Weuster-Botz, D. New reactive extraction systems for separation of bio-succinic acid. *Bioprocess Biosyst. Eng.* **2011**, *34*, 779–787.

130. Huh, Y. S.; Jun, Y. S.; Hong, Y. K.; Song, H.; Lee, S. Y.; Hong, W. H. Effective purification of succinic acid from fermentation broth produced by *Mannheimia succiniciproducens*. *Process Biochem*. **2006**, *41*, 1461–1465.

131. Li, Q.; Wang, D.; Wu, Y.; Li, W.; Zhang, Y.; Xing, J.; Su, Z. One step recovery of succinic acid from fermentation broths by crystallization. *Sep. Purif. Technol.* **2010**, *72*, 294–300.

132. Statista Research Department Capacity of leading global bio-succinic acid producers as of 2016 https://www.statista.com/statistics/538465/leading-bio-succinic-acid-producers-worldwide-by-capacity/> (accessed Nov 27, 2018).

133. Dessie, W.; Xin, F.; Zhang, W.; Jiang, Y.; Wu, H.; Ma, J.; Jiang, M. Opportunities, challenges, and future perspectives of succinic acid production by *Actinobacillus succinogenes*. *Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol.* **2018**, *102*, 9893–9910.

134. De Bari, I.; Liuzzi, F.; Villone, A.; Braccio, G. Hydrolysis of concentrated suspensions of steam pretreated *Arundo donax*. *Appl. Energy* **2013**, *102*, 179–189.

135. Prozil, S. O.; Costa, E. V.; Evtuguin, D. V.; Cruz Lopes, L. P.; Domingues, M. R. M. Structural characterization of polysaccharides isolated from grape stalks of Vitis vinifera L.

Carbohydr. Res. 2012, 356, 252–259.

136. Nero, L. A.; Beloti, V.; De Aguiar Ferreira Barros, M.; Ortolani, M. B. T.; Tamanini,
R.; De Melo Franco, B. D. G. Comparison of petrifilm aerobic count plates and de ManRogosa-Sharpe agar for enumeration of lactic acid bacteria. *J. Rapid Methods Autom. Microbiol.* 2006, *14*, 249–257.

137. Ye, G. zi; Jiang, M.; Li, J.; Chen, K. Q.; Xi, Y. an; Liu, S. W.; Wei, P.; Ouyang, P. kai Isolation of NH⁴⁺-tolerant mutants of *Actinobacillus succinogenes* for succinic acid production by continuous selection. *J. Microbiol. Biotechnol.* **2010**, *20*, 1219–1225.

138. Zhang, W.; Yang, Q.; Wu, M.; Liu, H.; Zhou, J.; Dong, W.; Ma, J.; Jiang, M.; Xin, F.
Metabolic Regulation of Organic Acid Biosynthesis in *Actinobacillus succinogenes*. *Front. Bioeng. Biotechnol.* 2019, 7, 1–10.

139. Zou, W.; Zhu, L. W.; Li, H. M.; Tang, Y. J. Significance of CO₂ donor on the production of succinic acid by *Actinobacillus succinogenes* ATCC 55618. *Microb. Cell Fact.* **2011**, *10*, 1–10.

140. Alexandri, M.; Papapostolou, H.; Vlysidis, A.; Gardeli, C.; Komaitis, M.; Papanikolaou, S.; Koutinas, A. A. Extraction of phenolic compounds and succinic acid production from spent sulphite liquor. *J. Chem. Technol. Biotechnol.* **2016**, *91*, 2751–2760.

141. Kim, M. II; Kim, N. J.; Shang, L.; Chang, Y. K.; Lee, S. Y.; Chang, H. N. Continuous production of succinic acid using an external membrane cell recycle system. *J. Microbiol. Biotechnol.* **2009**, *19*, 1369–1373.

142. De Barros, M.; Freitas, S.; Padilha, G. S.; Alegre, R. M. Biotechnological production of succinic acid by *Actinobacillus succinogenes* using different substrate. *Chem. Eng. Trans.* **2013**, *32*, 985–990.

143. McKinlay, J. B.; Vieille, C. ¹³C-metabolic flux analysis of *Actinobacillus succinogenes* fermentative metabolism at different NaHCO₃ and H₂ concentrations. *Metab*. *Eng.* **2008**, *10*, 55–68.

144. Melchior, J. B. The Role of Metal Ions in the Pyruvic Kinase Reaction. *Biochemistry* **1965**, *4*, 1518–1525.
145. Bentle, L. A.; Lardy, H. A. Interaction of Anions and Divalent Metal ions with Phosphoenolpyruvate Carboxykinase. *J. Biol. Chem.* **1976**, *251*, 2916–2921.



APPENDIX I – Calibration Curves of the Biomass



I.1 - Calibration curve of the biomass concentration in TSB medium



I.2 - Calibration curve of the biomass concentration in synthetic medium



I.3 - Calibration curve of the biomass concentration in WPH medium



APPENDIX II - Calibration Curves of the HPLC

 ${\rm II.1-Calibration}$ curve of the Glu



 $\mathrm{II.2}-\mathrm{Calibration}$ curve of the Xyl



II.3 – Calibration curve of the Hsuc



II.4 – Calibration curve of the Hlac



II.5 – Calibration curve of the Hfor



II.6 – Calibration curve of the Hace



APPENDIX III - Calibration curve of the anthrone method

III.1 – Calibration curve of the anthrone

APPENDIX IV - Calibration curve of the /DNS method



IV.1 – Calibration curve of the DNS

APPENDIX V – Wood Pulp composition

V.1-Wood Pulp composition

| Sugars (%) | Lignin (%) | Humidity (%) | Cellulose (%) | Hemicelluloses (%) |
|------------|------------|-----------------|------------------|-----------------------|
| 97.9% | 2.1% | 70.66% | 83 | 15 |

APPENDIX VI – Bioreactor setup scheme



VI.1 – batch setup



VI.2- fedbatch setup